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Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors 
Tuesday, November 10, 2020 

2:00 P.M. 
 

(Meeting to be held Via Teleconference 
Pursuant to State of California Executive Order N-29-20) 

 
Telephone number for members of the public  

to observe, listen, and address the meeting telephonically: 
Phone Number: 978-990-5000, Access Code 401324 

PLEASE NOTE: Due to the Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) public health emergency, including but not 
limited to the order by the State of California public health officials for anyone living in the state to stay home, 
the County of San Diego health order which prevents public gatherings, and in compliance with State 
Executive Order N-29-20, in-person participation at the Board meeting will not be allowed.  

 
AGENDA 

 
A. Opening of Meeting 
 

A.1. Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance 
  
A.2. Consideration of Non-Agenda Items Which Arose Subsequent to the Posting of 

the Agenda 
 

A.3. Adoption of Agenda for Meeting of November 10, 2020 
 
A.4. Opportunity for Members of the Public to Address the Board on any Subject 

within its Jurisdiction but not on the Agenda 
 
A.5. Announcements and/or Informational Reports from Board and/or Staff 
 

A.5.a. General Manager’s Report 
 
A.5.b. Committee Reports 
 
A.5.c.  Staff Reports  
 

B.  Ministerial Items 
 

B.1. Consent Calendar 
(All matters on the consent calendar are to be approved by one motion unless a Board Member requests 
separate action on a specific item) 
 
B.1.a. Adoption of the Regular Board Meeting Minutes for October 13, 2020 
 
 Recommendation:  To adopt the Minutes for October 13, 2020. 
 
B.1.b. Acceptance of Monthly Financial Reports – September 2020 
 
 Recommendation:  No staff recommendation. 

RAMONA MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
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B.1.c. Adoption of a Resolution Approving the Classification and Salary  

  Schedule for 2021 to Meet CalPERS Requirements 
 

Recommendation:  Staff respectfully recommends the Board adopt the proposed 
Resolution to approve the District's Classification and Salary Schedule for the 
period of January 1, 2021 to December 31, 2021 to meet CalPERS 
requirements. 

   
B.1.d. Authorization for the General Manager to Sign the Second Amendment to 

the First Amended and Restated Agreement for Use of Reclaimed Water on 
the Mt. Woodson Golf Course (“Agreement”) 

 
Recommendation: Staff respectfully recommends the Board authorize the 
General Manager to finalize and sign the Second Amendment to the Agreement 
in substantially the form as shown in Attachment 1. 

 
C. Public Hearing/Bid Openings 
 

C.1. Public Hearing – To Take Public Input on Adoption of an Ordinance Amending the 
District’s Legislative Code to Adopt by Reference the County of San Diego’s 
Defensible Space for Fire Protection Ordinance Which Includes the County of San 
Diego’s Public Nuisance Abatement Procedure 

 
 C.1.a. Public Hearing and Discussion with Possible Action to Adopt an 

Ordinance Amending the District’s Legislative Code Chapter 5.28 Which Includes 
Adopting by Reference the County’s Defensible Space for Fire Protection 
Ordinance and Nuisance Abatement Procedures 

 
Recommendation:  Staff respectfully recommends that after holding the public 
hearing and receiving public comments under agenda item C.1., the Board of 
Directors adopt the attached Ordinance by title only amending the District’s 
Legislative Code Chapter 5.28 which includes adopting by reference the 
County’s Defensible Space for Fire Protection Ordinance.  

 
D. Agenda Items which Anticipate Possible Input from Members of the Public    

(This space on the agenda is reserved in the event a member of the public is scheduled to address the Board) 
 
E. Agenda Items which Anticipate Possible Input from Other Agencies/Consultants 

(This space on the agenda is reserved in the event another agency/consultant is scheduled to address the Board) 
 

F. Agenda Items which Anticipate Possible Input from Staff 
 

F.1. Information Item for Acceptance of the Audited Financial Statements for Fiscal 
Year Ended June 30, 2020 
 
Recommendation:  Staff respectfully recommends the Board accept the audited 
financial statements for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020. 
 

G. Remaining Agenda Items 
 

G.1. Directors’ Reports of Reimbursed Meetings  
Pursuant to Legislative Code Section 2.08.140, members of the Board who receive reimbursement from the District for 
their actual and necessary expenses for attending meetings outside the District shall either prepare a written report to be 
submitted at the next subsequent Board meeting or make a verbal report during the next regular Board meeting. The 
report shall detail the information that may be of benefit to the District that was presented at the meeting. 
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I. Closing Agenda Items  

 
I.1. Date and Time for the Next Regular Meeting   
 
  December 8, 2020 - 2:00 p.m. 

 
Adjourn 

 
Ramona Municipal Water District in complying with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and State of California Executive Order N-29-20, 
requests individuals who require specific accommodations to access or participate in the Board Meeting, due to a disability, to please contact the 
Administrative Services Department at least one business day prior to the scheduled meeting to ensure that the District may assist you. 
Telephone: (760) 789-1330; T.D.D.: (760) 789-9497.   
Email: email@rmwd.org 
 
NOTE:  ANY ITEM APPEARING ON THIS AGENDA MAY BE DISCUSSED AND ACTION MAY BE TAKEN AT THE DISCRETION OF THE 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

The Agenda was posted at least 72 hours before the meeting in a location freely accessible to the public.  Agenda item memorandums or 
documents prepared for the Board of Directors are available for public review online at rmwd.org and at the RMWD office, 105 Earlham 
Street, Ramona, California during normal business hours, Monday through Friday 7:30 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. The Agenda is also posted at 
Ramona Community Center, 434 Aqua Lane, Ramona, California. Additions to the Agenda may be made in accordance with Section 
54954.2 of the California Government Code.   
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 MINUTES FOR THE MEETING 
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

OF THE RAMONA MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
October 13, 2020 

Meeting held Via Teleconference 
Pursuant to State of California Executive Order N-29-20 

PRESENT 
Jim Robinson President 
Bryan Wadlington Vice President 
Thomas Ace Treasurer 
Jim Hickle Director 

ABSENT 
Jeff Lawler Secretary 

A. Opening of Meeting 

A.1. Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance 

The Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors of the Ramona Municipal Water District was called to 
order by President Robinson at 2:01 p.m. via Teleconference Pursuant to State of California Executive 
Order N-29-20. 

President Robinson led the Board and members of the public in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Roll Call. 

Legal Counsel Announcement. 

A.2. Consideration of Non-Agenda Items Which Arose Subsequent to the Posting of 
the Agenda 

None. 

A.3. Adoption of Agenda for Meeting of September 8, 2020 

M\S\C MOTION TO ADOPT THE AGENDA FOR OCTOBER 13, 2020  (Ace/Wadlington) 

AYES: Ace, Hickle, Robinson, Wadlington 
NOES:  None 
ABSTAIN: None 
ABSENT: Lawler 

A.4. Opportunity for Members of the Public to Address the Board on any Subject 
within its Jurisdiction but not on the Agenda 

None. 

A.5. Announcements and/or Informational Reports from Board and/or Staff 

B.1.a. Page 1
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A.5.a. General Manager’s Report 

General Manager Barnum provided a COVID status report for the District with no reductions in existing 
service levels at RMWD.  The front counter remains closed to comply with federal, state and local 
health requirements. He thanked staff for their hard work and dedication to the community. He also 
briefed the Board on the 9/24/2020 San Diego County Water Authority (SDCWA) Board action to 
authorize a new service connection for the City of Poway and complete a planning study for future 
SDCWA Board approval. The actual connection point and term and conditions will be determined for 
SDCWA Board approval at a later date and will involve the City of San Diego, the Olivenhain Municipal 
Water District and the Ramona Municipal Water District.  

Director Ace reported that the Fire Ad Hoc Committee met on September 30, 2020 at 10:00 a.m. and 
stated the purpose of the committee, reserving the details of the recommendation when the item is 
officially heard in Item F.1.  

A.5.b. Committee Reports 

None. 

A.5.c.- Staff Reports 

None. 

B. Ministerial Items 

B.1. Consent Calendar 
(All matters on the consent calendar are to be approved by one motion unless a Board 
Member requests separate action on a specific item) 

B.1.a. Adoption of the Regular Board Meeting Minutes for September 8, 2020 

Recommendation:  To adopt the Minutes for September 8, 2020. 

B.1.b. Acceptance of Monthly Financial Reports – August 2020 

Recommendation:  No staff recommendation. 

B.1.c. Authorization for the General Manager to Award a Contract for 
Construction of the B St, E St, 5th St and 9th St Cast Iron Waterline 
Replacement Project 

Recommendation:  Staff respectfully recommends the Board authorize the 
General Manager to award a contract for construction of the B St, E St, 5th St 
and 9th St Cast Iron Waterline Replacement Project to L.B. Civil Construction, 
Inc. 

B.1.d. Authorization for the General Manager to Sign the Amended/Restated 
Nature Conservancy Conservation Easement (CE), The Nature 
Conservancy Agreement Regarding CE Amendment, And United States 
Fish & Wildlife Service Permit Application Form 

B.1.a. Page 2
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Recommendation:  Staff respectfully recommends the Board approve the 
revised and amended CE and authorize the General Manager to address any 
minor language revisions with Legal Counsel review, as well as sign and 
implement the Agreement with the TNC and the USFWS Permit Application. 

M/S/C MOTION TO APPROVE THE CONSENT CALENDAR  (Hickle/Ace) 

AYES: Ace, Hickle, Robinson, Wadlington 
NOES:  None 
ABSTAIN: None 
ABSENT: Lawler 

C. Public Hearing/Bid Openings 

D. Agenda Items which Anticipate Possible Input from Members of the Public    
(This space on the agenda is reserved in the event a member of the public is scheduled to 
address the Board) 

E. Agenda Items which Anticipate Possible Input from Other Agencies/Consultants 
(This space on the agenda is reserved in the event another agency/consultant is scheduled to 
address the Board) 

F. Agenda Items which Anticipate Possible Input from Staff 

F.1. Discussion and Possible Action, Including Input from the Fire Ad Hoc Committee, 
to Authorize the General Manager to Sign a Fire Agreement for Cooperative 
Services and Use of Fire Protection Funds Between the District and the County of 
San Diego That Includes the Use of County Fire Protection Funds 

Recommendation:  Staff respectively recommends the Board authorize the General 
Manager to sign a Fire Agreement for Cooperative Services and Use of Fire Protection 
Funds between the District and the County of San Diego that includes the use of 
County Fire Protection Funds. 

General Manager Barnum gave a brief summary on the item and thanked staff for their hard work. 
Chief Financial Officer Craig Schmollinger explained the scope of the draft five-year agreement funded 
by county and state resources. Cal Fire Chief Tony Mecham gave a report of the improvements made 
by the County of San Diego for fire protection, focusing on the value of the strong cooperative 
relationship with county fire authorities. He also explained the benefits of the agreement that would 
provide increased staff for fire services, the placement of a heavy rescue vehicle at Fire Station 80, 
and no-cost dispatching services.  

Director Ace and Director Hickle presented a brief history on the concept of mutual fire aid in California 
and discussed the benefits of the agreement. Director Ace announced the unanimous 
recommendation for the Fire Ad Hoc committee to authorize the General Manager to sign a fire 
agreement with cooperative services in the use of fire protection funds between the District and the 
County of San Diego, including the use of County Fire Protection Funds.  

Board discussion occurred about the length of the agreement and subsequent 5-year renewal upon 
expiration.  

B.1.a. Page 3
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M/S/C MOTION TO AUTHORIZE GENERAL MANAGER BARNUM TO SIGN THE 
AGREEMENT WITH THE COUNTY  (Wadlington/Ace)   

AYES: Ace, Hickle, Robinson, Wadlington 
NOES:  None 
ABSTAIN: None 
ABSENT: Lawler 

F.2. Two Actions Requested: 1) Consideration Regarding and Authorization for the 
General Manager to Sign a New Fire Prevention Services Collaboration 
Agreement with the County of San Diego and, 2) Discussion and Possible Action 
to Introduce and Conduct the First Reading by Title Only of and to Set a Date for 
Public Hearing for Adoption of an Ordinance Amending the District’s Legislative 
Code Chapter 5.28 Which Includes Adopting by Reference the County’s 
Defensible Space for Fire Protection Ordinance. 

Recommendation: Staff respectfully recommends that the Board of Directors: 
(1) Authorize the General Manager to sign a new Fire Prevention Services 
Collaboration Agreement with the County of San Diego; and  
(2) Additional discussion and possible action is requested for the Board to consider 
introducing the attached Ordinance by title only, with a waiver of the full reading of the 
Ordinance, and to set November 10, 2020 as the date for a public hearing to consider 
adoption of the Ordinance amending the District’s Legislative Code Chapter 5.28 which 
includes adopting by reference the County’s Defensible Space for Fire Protection 
Ordinance. 

General Manager Barnum briefly introduced the item. Chief Financial Officer Craig Schmollinger gave 
a report on the operational and financial details of the new 5-year agreement. He explained the scope 
and reasons for the renewal. Cal Fire Chief Mecham commented on the history, modifications and 
benefits of the fire services agreement.  

Board discussion occurred about business inspections, cost-saving benefits, defensible space 
regulations, new abatement policies of the agreement and local RMWD oversite of the process. 

M/S/C MOTION TO AUTHORIZE THE GENERAL MANAGER TO SIGN A NEW FIRE 
PREVENTION SERVICES COLLABORATION AGREEMENT WITH THE COUNTY 
OF SAN DIEGO WITH THE EXCEPTION TO RETURN AND REVISIT THE 
ABATEMENT AGREEMENT PROCESS WITH THE DELETION OF THE THIRTY 
THOUSAND DOLLAR AGREEMENT  (Hickle/Ace) 

AYES: Ace, Hickle, Robinson, Wadlington 
NOES:  None 
ABSTAIN: None 
ABSENT: Lawler 

M/S/C MOTION TO WAIVE FULL READING OF THE PROPOSED ORDINANCE AND 
INTRODUCE IT BY TITLE ONLY, WITH THE TITLE READING AS FOLLOWS: AN 
ORDINANCE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE RAMONA MUNICIPAL 
WATER DISTRICT AMENDING CHAPTER 5.28 OF THE DISTRICT’S LEGISLATIVE 
CODE RELATING TO NUISANCES TO REVISE CERTAIN SECTIONS AND ADOPT 
BY REFERENCE THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO DEFENSIBLE SPACE FOR FIRE 

F.2 Page 4
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PROTECTION ORDINANCE, CHAPTER 4 OF DIVISION 8 OF TITLE 6 OF THE SAN 
DIEGO COUNTY CODE OF REGULATORY ORDINANCES, SECTIONS 68.401-
68.419 WHICH INCLUDES THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO’S PUBLIC NUISANCE 
ABATEMENT PROCEDURE, CHAPTER 2 OF DIVISION 6 OF TITLE 1 OF THE 
COUNTY CODE OF REGULATORY ORDINANCES, SECTIONS 16.201-16.218 FOR 
PURPOSES OF COUNTY ENFORCEMENT (Hickle/Ace) 

AYES: Ace, Hickle, Robinson, Wadlington 
NOES:  None 
ABSTAIN: None 
ABSENT: Lawler 

M/S/C MOTION TO SET A DATE FOR PUBLIC HEARING FOR NOVEMBER 10, 2020 TO 
INCLUDE THE REQUIRED SECOND READING OF THE ORDINANCE, AND  
AUTHORIZE THE ADMINISTRATIVE SECRETARY TO PUBLISH THE   
APPROPRIATE LEGAL NOTICES (Hickle/Ace) 

AYES: Ace, Hickle, Robinson, Wadlington 
NOES:  None 
ABSTAIN: None 
ABSENT: Lawler 

G. Closed Session – NOT OPEN TO THE PUBLIC 

President Robinson adjourned the meeting for a break at 3:26 p.m. 

The board entered closed session at 3:31 p.m. 

G.1. Conference with Legal Counsel – Anticipated Litigation 
Significant exposure to litigation pursuant to Govt. Code section 54956.9(d)(2) (1 
case). Existing facts and circumstances pursuant to Govt. Code section 
54956.9(e)(1) 

G.2.  Public Employee Performance Evaluation 
(Government Code § 54957 (b)(1)) 
Title:  General Counsel 

Closed session ended at 4:33 p.m. Legal Counsel reported that direction was given with no reportable 
action taken.  

H. Closing Agenda Items 

H.1. Date and Time for the Next Regular Meeting  

November 10, 2020 - 2:00 p.m. 

President Robinson adjourned the meeting at 4:34 p.m. 

Adjourn 

F.2. Page 5.
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RAMONA MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 

AGENDA MEMO 
 Agenda Item No. B.1.b. 
 Regular Board Meeting of November 10, 2020 

Jim Robinson, President 
and Members of the Board of Directors 
Ramona, CA 92065 

RE: ACCEPTANCE OF MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORTS – SEPTEMBER 2020 

Members of the Board: 

Purpose 
To present monthly financial reports for the month of September 2020. 

Background 
Accounts with September financial activity are closed during the month of October and submitted to 
the Board in December.   

Discussion 
The monthly reports for September are submitted.  

Fiscal Impact 
None.  

Recommendation 
No staff recommendation. 

Prepared by:  Craig Schmollinger, Chief Financial Officer 

Submitted by: David Barnum, General Manager 

ATTACHMENTS: 
Attachment 1   September Financials  B.1.b. Page 2-14 
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RAMONA MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 

AGENDA MEMO 
 

 Agenda Item No. B.1.c. 
 Regular Board Meeting of November 10, 2020 

 
Jim Robinson, President 
and Members of the Board of Directors 
Ramona, CA  92065 
 
RE: ADOPTION OF A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE CLASSIFICATION AND SALARY 

SCHEDULE FOR 2021 TO MEET CALPERS REQUIREMENTS 
 
Members of the Board: 
 
Purpose 
To adopt a Resolution approving the Classification and Salary Schedule for the period of 
January 1, 2021 to December 31, 2021 to meet CalPERS requirements.  
 
Background 
On November 14, 2017, the Board approved the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with 
RMWD Employees Association (RMWDEA) and the Order of the Board with unrepresented 
employees for the period of January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2021. These agreements will 
modify the salary schedule for all classifications on an annual basis. 
 
Discussion 
CalPERS regulations require that participating member agencies publish employee salaries on 
a publicly available Salary Schedule to ensure consistency and transparency between CalPERS 
employers.  CalPERS uses the information when calculating retirement benefits. 
 
CalPERS specifies that the publicly available pay schedule should (1) be publicly approved and 
adopted by the employer's governing body, (2) identify the position title for every employee 
position, (3) show the pay rate for each identified position, (4) identify the time base, including 
whether the time base is hourly, monthly, annually, etc., (5) post the schedule at the office of the 
employer, or the employer's internet website, (6) indicate the effective date and date of any 
revisions, (7) be retained and available for public inspection for not less than five years and (8) 
not reference another document in lieu of disclosing the pay rate. All eight requirements must be 
met in one salary schedule in order for CalPERS to approve the pay amount as payrate and 
reportable compensation earnable. 
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The Ramona Municipal Water District (District) is currently in compliance with CalPERS 
regulations by posting the most current Classification and Salary Schedule on its website, 
www.rmwd.org. Adopting the resolution to approve the Classification and Salary Schedule for 
January 1, 2021 to December 31, 2021, will ensure the District remains in compliance with 
CalPERS regulations. 
 
Fiscal Impact 
None. 
 
Recommendation 
Staff respectfully recommends the Board adopt the proposed Resolution to approve the 
District’s Classification and Salary Schedule for the period of January 1, 2021 to December 31, 
2021 to meet CalPERS requirements. 
 
 
Prepared By:  Tim Clement, Administrative Services Manager       
 
Submitted by: David Barnum, General Manager     
 
 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
Attachment 1 Proposed Resolution and Salary Schedule B.1.c. Page 3-5 
 

http://www.rmwd.org/
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RESOLUTION NO. 20-XXXX 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE RAMONA 
MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT ADOPTING A REVISED SALARY SCHEDULE 

FOR THE PERIOD OF JANAURY 1, 2021 TO DECEMBER 31, 2021 

WHEREAS, CalPERS regulations require that participating member agencies publish 
employee salaries on a publicly available Salary Schedule; and 

WHEREAS, CalPERS requires the Salary Schedule be publicly approved and adopted 
by each participating member agency’s governing body by resolution. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE RAMONA 
MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT DOES HEREBY RESOLVE, DETERMINE AND 
ORDER AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1. The revised Salary Schedule for full-time employees, attached hereto as 
Exhibit A and incorporated herein by this reference, is hereby adopted with an effective 
date of January 1, 2021.  

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED at the regular meeting of the Board of 
Directors of Ramona Municipal Water District held on the 10th day of November 2020. 

__________________________________________ 
Jim Robinson 
President, Board of Directors 
Ramona Municipal Water District 

ATTEST: 

________________________________ 
Jeff Lawler 
Secretary, Board of Directors 
Ramona Municipal Water District 
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RAMONA MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 

AGENDA MEMO 
 
       Agenda Item No. B.1.d.  
       Regular Board Meeting of November 10, 2020 

 
Jim Robinson, President 
and Members of the Board of Directors 
Ramona, CA 92065 
 
RE: AUTHORIZATION FOR THE GENERAL MANAGER TO SIGN THE SECOND 

AMENDMENT TO THE FIRST AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT FOR USE 
OF RECLAIMED WATER ON THE MT. WOODSON GOLF COURSE (“AGREEMENT”) 

 
Members of the Board: 
 
Purpose 
To obtain Board authorization for the General Manager to sign the Second Amendment to the 
Agreement to remove all references to untreated water. 
 
Background  
On April 5, 1991, the Ramona Municipal Water District (“District”) entered into an Agreement 
with Davidson Coscan Partners (“DCP”) for Use of Reclaimed Water on The Mt. Woodson 
Ranch Golf Course. 

On May 3, 1996, the District and DCP executed the First Amended and Restated Agreement for 
Use of Reclaimed Water on the Mt. Woodson Ranch Golf Course Project. (Attachment 2) 

On December 31, 1996, the District and DCP executed the First Amendment to the First 
Amended and Restated Agreement for Use of Reclaimed Water on the Mt. Woodson Ranch 
Golf Course Project. (Attachment 3) 

On February 19, 2016, Alliance G.C.P., LLC (“Alliance”) became the owner of the Mt. Woodson 
Ranch Golf Course Property and has been assigned all rights and obligations under the 
Agreement by DCP.   

In March 2020, the Board accepted the Untreated Water System Evaluation and Authorized the 
General Manager to implement Phases 1 through 3 of the defined implementation plan.  Phase I 
of the implementation plan includes decommissioning of the untreated system in the Woodson 
Zone. Mt. Woodson Golf Course is one of the parcels included in the Phase I of the 
implementation plan. 
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Discussion  
Untreated water customers included in Phase I of the implementation plan were notified via 
letter about the decommissioning of the untreated system in the Woodson Zone by July 1, 2021.  
In response to the letter, Mt. Woodson Golf Course through Alliance submitted an application for 
removal of all untreated water meters (5) ahead of the July 1, 2021 date.  Alliance has not used 
water from the untreated system in recent years.  

The existing Agreement includes references to delivery of untreated water to Mt. Woodson Golf 
Course.  With the removal of the untreated meters, as requested by the property owner, the 
delivery of untreated water would no longer be an alternative option and therefore there is a 
need to amend the Agreement to remove all references to delivery of untreated water by the 
District to the property. 

Included as Attachment 1 to this agenda memo is the draft version of the Second Amendment 
to the Agreement for Use of Reclaimed Water on the Mt. Woodson Ranch Golf Course Project.  

Fiscal Impact 
None. 
 
Recommendation  
Staff respectfully recommends the Board authorize the General Manager to finalize and sign the 
Second Amendment to the Agreement in substantially the form as shown in Attachment 1. 
 
 
Prepared by: Ricardo Soto, P.E., Engineering Department 

Reviewed by: D. Michael Metts, P.E., District Engineer 

Submitted by: David Barnum, General Manager 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
Attachment 1     Second Amendment to the First Amended and Restated Agreement for Use of 
 Reclaimed Water on the Mt. Woodson Ranch Golf Course Project.   Page 3-5 
 
Attachment 2 First Amended and Restated Agreement for Use of Reclaimed Water on 
 the Mt. Woodson Ranch Golf Course Project (May 1996).                  Page 6-36 
 
Attachment 3 First Amendment to the First Amended and Restated Agreement for Use 
 of Reclaimed Water on the Mt. Woodson Ranch Golf Course Project 
 (December 1996).                                                                                Page 37-43 
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SECOND AMENDMENT TO FIRST AMENDED 
AND RESTATED AGREEMENT FOR USE OF 

RECLAIMED WATER ON THE MT. WOODSON 
RANCH GOLF COURSE PROJECT 

 
This Second Amendment to the First Amended and Restated Agreement For Use Of 

Reclaimed Water On The Mt. Woodson Ranch Golf Course Project ("Second 
Amendment") is entered into by and between the Ramona Municipal Water District 
(hereinafter the "District"), a municipal water district organized and operating pursuant to 
California Water Code sections 71000 et seq., and Alliance G C P, LLC (hereinafter the 
"Owner").  

 
This Agreement shall become effective as of November ___, 2020, upon execution by the 
parties. 
 

RECITALS 
 

A. On May 3, 1996, Davidson Coscan Partners (“DCP”) and the District entered 
into the First Amendment to the First Amended and Restated Agreement For Use of 
Reclaimed Water On the Mt. Woodson Ranch Golf Course Project ("Agreement") 

 
B. On December 31, 1996, DCP and the District entered into the First 

Amendment to the Agreement ("First Amendment"). 
 
C. On February 19, 2016, Alliance G C P, LLC (“Owner”) became the owner of 

the Mt. Woodson Ranch Golf Course Project (“Project”) as defined in the Agreement. 
Owner also executed a form of an assignment and assumption agreement with DCP 
in which DCP assigned all of its rights and obligations in the Agreement and First 
Amendment to Owner. 

 
D. In March, 2020, the District Board of Directors approved the decommissioning 

of a portion of the Untreated Water System (Woodson Zone) as part of Phase I of the 
“Untreated Water System Evaluation” by July 1, 2021.  The Mount Woodson Ranch 
Golf Course is one of the parcels included on the portion of the untreated system to 
be decommissioned under this Phase I. 

 
E. Owner made a request to the District to remove all untreated water meters to 

the Project ahead of the July 1, 2021 deadline. 
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F. Owner and the District now desire to amend the Agreement and First 
Amendment to delete any references to the District providing untreated water to the 
Project, as specifically provided below. 

For good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the District and Owner agree to amend the Agreement and First 
Amendment, as follows: 

 
1. The District and Owner agree that no untreated water services will be 

provided by the District to Owner at the Project. Upon execution of this 
Second Amendment, nothing in the Agreement or the First Amendment will 
require the District to provide any such untreated water services to Owner. 

 
2. All references to “DCP” in the Agreement and First Amendment will refer to 

Owner now that Owner has been assigned all rights and obligations under the 
Agreement and First Amendment by DCP. 

 
3. Recital D of the Agreement shall be amended by deleting all references to 

“untreated water.”  Therefore, the last sentence of Recital D shall be 
amended to read as follows: 

 "The Water Service Agreement does not include any commitment for 
potable water service for the Project.” 

 
4. Recital I shall be deleted in its entirety from the Agreement. 
 
5. The first paragraph of Section 6 of the Agreement as Amended by the 

First Amendment shall be amended by deleting section 6(f) and 
sentences 5 and 6 from the first paragraph.  The fourth sentence of the 
first paragraph of Section 6 shall be amended to read as follows and the 
fourth sentence shall now be the end of the first paragraph in Section 6: 

 "The District shall have the right to substitute this supply of reclaimed 
water as necessary from time to time; (a) to meet new reclaimed water 
standards; (b) to correct defects or inadequacies in the Santa Maria 
Reclaimed Water System; (c) to effectuate repairs or maintenance; (d) 
where the water being provided from the Santa Maria Reclaimed Water 
System does not meet the requirements imposed by applicable law; or (e) 
if daily irrigation demand exceeds the capacity of the Improvements.”   

 
6. The second paragraph of Section 6 of the Agreement shall be amended 

by deleting all references to “untreated water.” Therefore, the first 
sentence of the second paragraph of Section 6 shall be amended to read 

ATTACHMENT 1
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as follows: 

 "During the term of this agreement, the Owner agrees to pay for at least 
an average of 220,000 gallons per day (“Guaranteed Consumption”) of 
tertiary reclaimed water.” 

 
 Section 7 of the Agreement shall be amended by deleting all references to 

“untreated water.”  Therefore, the third sentence of Section 7 of the 
Agreement shall be amended to read as follows: 

"Any supplemental Water requested by the Owner shall be priced at the 
then current regular rate for similar customers, which may not include any 
special discounts provided to customers and mandated by the District and 
evidenced by back-up data to be provided by the District and subject to 
polices for other District customers.” 
 

7. Section 29.10 Notices shall be revised to provide notice to the parties as 
follows: 

To: Owner 
Alliance G.C.P., LLC 
(insert address and contact person) 
 
To: District 
Ramona Municipal Water District 
Attention: General Manager 
(insert address) 

8. Except as provided above, all other terms of the Agreement and the First 
Amendment shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
Alliance G.C.P., LLC 

 
      By: ______________________________ 
      Printed Name: _____________________ 
      Title: _____________________________ 
 
      Ramona Municipal Water District 
 
      By: ______________________________ 
            David Barnum, General Manager 
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NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

TO CONSIDER ADOPTION OF AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE DISTRICT’S 
LEGISLATIVE CODE TO ADOPT BY REFERENCE THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO’S 
DEFENSIBLE SPACE FOR FIRE PROTECTION ORDINANCE WHICH INCLUDES THE 
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO’S PUBLIC NUISANCE ABATEMENT PROCEDURE  

November 10, 2020 at 2:00 P.M. 
(Hearing to be held Via Teleconference 

Pursuant to State of California Executive Order N-29-20) 
 

Notice is hereby given that on the 10th day of November 2020, at the hour of 2:00 p.m. via 
Teleconference: Phone Number 978-990-5000, Access Code 401324, the Board of Directors of 
the Ramona Municipal Water District will consider and receive comment on: 
 

ADOPTION OF AN ORDINANCE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE RAMONA 
MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT AMENDING CHAPTER 5.28 OF THE DISTRICT’S 
LEGISLATIVE CODE RELATING TO NUISANCES TO REVISE CERTAIN SECTIONS AND 
ADOPT BY REFERENCE THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO’S DEFENSIBLE SPACE FOR FIRE 
PROTECTION ORDINANCE, CHAPTER 4 OF DIVISION 8 OF TITLE 6 OF THE SAN DIEGO 
COUNTY CODE OF REGULATORY ORDINANCES, SECTIONS 68.401-68.419 WHICH 
INCLUDES THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO’S PUBLIC NUISANCE ABATEMENT 
PROCEDURE, CHAPTER 2 OF DIVISION 6 OF TITLE 1 OF THE COUNTY CODE OF 
REGULATORY ORDINANCES, SECTIONS 16.201-16.218 FOR PURPOSES OF COUNTY 
ENFORCEMENT  

 
The proposed ordinance will revise various provisions of Chapter 5.28 “Nuisances” of the District 
Legislative Code and adopt by reference the County of San Diego’s Defensible Space for Fire 
Protection Ordinance (“Defensible Space Ordinance”) to be applicable within the District.  The 
Defensible Space Ordinance is designed to keep private property free from potential fire hazards, 
to require private properties to have cleared and defensible space as specified in the ordinance, 
and to require that materials such as weeds, rubbish and other combustible vegetation be 
removed from private property.  If the District Board adopts the proposed ordinance, the County 
of San Diego will provide the administration and enforcement of the Defensible Space Ordinance 
within the District pursuant to an agreement between the County and the District. Additionally, 
the proposed ordinance includes the adoption by reference of the County’s Public Nuisance 

RAMONA MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
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Abatement Procedure contained in the County Code which can be used by the County when 
necessary to perform forced abatement on private property pursuant to the Defensible Space 
Ordinance with notice and hearing procedures.   
 
As of October 22, 2020, copies of the proposed ordinance, Chapter 4 of Division 8 of Title 6 of the 
San Diego County Code Of Regulatory Ordinances, Sections 68.401-68.419  (Defensible Space 
Ordinance), and Chapter 2 of Division 6 of Title 1 of the County Code of Regulatory Ordinances, 
Sections 16.201-16.218 (Public Nuisance Abatement Procedure) will be available for review at 
the District Office, 105 Earlham Street, Ramona, California 92065 and online at the following 
website: www.rmwd.org.  
 
Any interested person may appear at said meeting and make a presentation to the Board related 
to the proposed ordinance.  During the meeting, the Board shall hear and consider all objections 
or protests, if any, to the proposed ordinance.  
 
Date:   October 22, 2020 
 
RAMONA MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
Administrative Services Department   
105 Earlham Street, Ramona, CA 92065 
Phone:  760-789-1330        
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RAMONA MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 

AGENDA MEMO 
 

Agenda Item No. C.1.a. 
Regular Board Meeting of November 10, 2020  

 
Jim Robinson, President 
and Members of the Board of Directors 
Ramona, CA  92065 
 
RE: PUBLIC HEARING AND DISCUSSION WITH POSSIBLE ACTION TO ADOPT AN 

ORDINANCE AMENDING THE DISTRICT’S LEGISLATIVE CODE CHAPTER 5.28 
WHICH INCLUDES ADOPTING BY REFERENCE THE COUNTY’S DEFENSIBLE 
SPACE FOR FIRE PROTECTION ORDINANCE AND NUISANCE ABATEMENT 
PROCEDURES 

  
Members of the Board: 
 
Purpose 
To hold a public hearing, receive public input, and consider adoption of an Ordinance amending 
the District’s Legislative Code Chapter 5.28 which includes adopting by reference the County’s 
Defensible Space for Fire Protection Ordinance and Nuisance Abatement procedures. 
 
Background 
Prior to December 2015, the District performed fire prevention services “in-house” through 
District staff conducting building plan reviews and inspections based out of the Administrative 
Office at 105 Earlham Street in Ramona.  
 
Through execution of a Fire Prevention Services Collaboration Agreement (“Agreement”) with 
the County of San Diego Fire Authority (“Fire Authority”), those building plan reviews and 
inspections were contracted for beginning in December 2015. By contracting for those services, 
the District was able to maintain an adequate level of service while reducing costs. Services are 
currently being performed based out of the County Operations Center in the City of San Diego, 
which is a central hub for Building services provided by the County of San Diego. 
 
The current updated 5-year Agreement was approved by the Board at its October 13, 2020 
meeting, and that agenda item also included the first reading of an Ordinance amending 
Chapter 5.28 of the District’s Legislative Code. This Ordinance is intended to make alterations 
to the District’s Legislative Code that will allow the County to enforce their Defensible Space 
Ordinance while fulfilling their obligations under the terms of the Agreement. 
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Discussion 
Pursuant to the Agreement, the County is requesting that the District Board consider adopting 
the County’s Defensible Space Ordinance in its sole discretion. The proposed ordinance will 
revise various provisions of Chapter 5.28 “Nuisances” of the District Legislative Code and adopt 
by reference the County of San Diego’s Defensible Space for Fire Protection Ordinance 
(“Defensible Space Ordinance”) to be applicable within the District.  The Defensible Space 
Ordinance is designed to keep private property free from potential fire hazards, to require 
private properties to have cleared and defensible space as specified in the ordinance, and to 
require that materials such as weeds, rubbish and other combustible vegetation be removed 
from private property.  If the District Board adopts the proposed ordinance, the County of San 
Diego will provide the administration and enforcement of the Defensible Space Ordinance within 
the District pursuant to the Agreement between the County and the District. Additionally, the 
proposed ordinance includes the adoption by reference of the County’s Public Nuisance 
Abatement Procedure contained in the County Code which can be used by the County when 
necessary to perform forced abatement on private property pursuant to the Defensible Space 
Ordinance with notice and hearing procedures. 
   
If the Board does not adopt the Ordinance, then the County will not be required to administer 
the Defensible Space Ordinance within the District’s service area.  
 
If the District does want to adopt the County’s Defensible Space Ordinance, amendments to the 
District’s Legislative Code Chapter 5.28 are necessary.  These amendments are highlighted as 
“Exhibit A” to the Ordinance amending this section of the Legislative Code (Attachment 1). Also 
attached for reference is the County Defensible Space Ordinance as Attachment 2. If the District 
adopts the Ordinance, the provisions of the County’s Defensible Space Ordinance would be 
effective solely for the purposes of the County enforcement of their specific responsibilities 
under the proposed Agreement. Pursuant to Board direction at the October 13, 2020 Board 
meeting, the Agreement was revised such that the following language is included which will 
allow the District to be consulted about any proposed forced abatement proceedings prior to the 
County commencing any such action on the District’s behalf: 

County shall consult with and obtain approval from the District for all forced abatements 
before commencing forced abatement proceedings. 

If the District wants to adopt the Ordinance, it requires one Board meeting to introduce the 
Ordinance by title only, which occurred at the Board meeting on October 13, 2020.  At that 
meeting, the Board also set a public hearing for today’s meeting to allow the Board to consider 
public input and adoption of the Ordinance.  Today, the Board is considering the second and 
final step to adopt the Ordinance. This public hearing has been published and noticed as 
required by applicable law. Additionally, copies of the proposed ordinance, Chapter 4 of Division 
8 of Title 6 of the San Diego County Code Of Regulatory Ordinances, Sections 68.401-68.419  
(Defensible Space Ordinance), and Chapter 2 of Division 6 of Title 1 of the County Code of 
Regulatory Ordinances, Sections 16.201-16.218 (Public Nuisance Abatement Procedure) were 
available for public review beginning on October 22, 2020 at the District’s office at 105 Earlham 
Street and on the District’s website at www.rmwd.org. 
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Fiscal Impact 
No impact.  
 
Recommendation 
Staff respectfully recommends that after holding the public hearing and receiving public 
comments under agenda item C.1., the Board of Directors adopt the attached Ordinance by title 
only amending the District’s Legislative Code Chapter 5.28 which includes adopting by 
reference the County’s Defensible Space for Fire Protection Ordinance. 
 
Prepared by:   Craig Schmollinger, Chief Financial Officer  

Submitted by: David Barnum, General Manager     

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

Attachment 1  Ordinance - AN ORDINANCE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
RAMONA MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT AMENDING CHAPTER 5.28 OF THE DISTRICT’S 
LEGISLATIVE CODE RELATING TO NUISANCES TO REVISE CERTAIN SECTIONS AND 
ADOPT BY REFERENCE THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO’S DEFENSIBLE SPACE FOR FIRE 
PROTECTION ORDINANCE, CHAPTER 4 OF DIVISION 8 OF TITLE 6 OF THE SAN DIEGO 
COUNTY CODE OF REGULATORY ORDINANCES, SECTIONS 68.401-68.419 WHICH 
INCLUDES THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO’S PUBLIC NUISANCE ABATEMENT PROCEDURE, 
CHAPTER 2 OF DIVISION 6 OF TITLE 1 OF THE COUNTY CODE OF REGULATORY 
ORDINANCES, SECTIONS 16.201-16.218 FOR PURPOSES OF COUNTY ENFORCEMENT  
               Page 4-14 
 
Attachment 2:  County Defensible Space Ordinance        Page 15-18 
   



                                                                                          
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 20-XXX 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE RAMONA 
MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT AMENDING CHAPTER 5.28 OF THE 
DISTRICT’S LEGISLATIVE CODE RELATING TO NUISANCES TO REVISE 
CERTAIN SECTIONS AND ADOPT BY REFERENCE THE COUNTY OF SAN 
DIEGO’S DEFENSIBLE SPACE FOR FIRE PROTECTION ORDINANCE, 
CHAPTER 4 OF DIVISION 8 OF TITLE 6 OF THE SAN DIEGO COUNTY CODE OF 
REGULATORY ORDINANCES, SECTIONS 68.401-68.419 WHICH INCLUDES THE 
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO’S PUBLIC NUISANCE ABATEMENT PROCEDURE, 
CHAPTER 2 OF DIVISION 6 OF TITLE 1 OF THE COUNTY CODE OF 
REGULATORY ORDINANCES, SECTIONS 16.201-16.218 FOR PURPOSES OF 
COUNTY ENFORCEMENT 

 
WHEREAS, the Ramona Municipal Water District ("District") operates as a fire district 

pursuant to the authority in California Water Code section 71680 and the Health and Safety Code; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Health and Safety Code section 13879 the District may abate 
hazardous weeds and rubbish; and 

 
WHEREAS, Chapter 5.28 of the District’s Legislative Code relates to nuisances and their 

abatement, including the forced abatement of hazardous weeds and rubbish; and 
 
WHEREAS, on October 13, 2020, the District’s Board of Directors authorized the District 

to enter into that certain Agreement between the County of San Diego and the Ramona Municipal 
Water District for Fire Prevention Services Collaboration (“MOU”) which provides for the County 
of San Diego (“County”) to perform administrative and enforcement actions, including but not 
limited to forced weed abatements, on behalf of the District if the District, in its sole discretion, 
adopts the County’s Defensible Space for Fire Protection Ordinance, Chapter 4 of Division 8 of 
Title 6 of the San Diego County Code of Regulatory Ordinances (“County Code”), sections 68.401-
68.419 (“Defensible Space Ordinance”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the County’s Defensible Space Ordinance includes County Code section 

68.405, which says that abatement is handled pursuant to the County’s Public Nuisance Abatement 
Procedure, Chapter 2 of Division 6 of Title 1 of the County Code (sections 16.201-16.218); and 
 

WHEREAS, the District, in its sole discretion, desires to adopt the County’s Defensible 
Space Ordinance by reference and have the County perform administrative and enforcement 
responsibilities pursuant to the Defensible Space Ordinance, including but not limited to forced 
abatements of hazardous weeds and rubbish on behalf of the District according to the terms of the 
MOU and consistent with applicable state law; and 
 

WHEREAS, in order to implement this process, it is necessary for the District to amend its 
Legislative Code as shown in Exhibit A; and 
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WHEREAS, Health and Safety Code section 13861(h) provides that districts can adopt 

ordinances by following the procedures of Article 7 (commencing with Section 25120) of Chapter 1 
of Part 2 of Division 2 of Title 3 of the Government Code; and 

 
WHEREAS, Government Code sections 25127 and 50022.2 provide that an ordinance code 

may be adopted by reference; and 
 
WHEREAS, notice of a public hearing on the adoption of this Ordinance was published 

pursuant to and in the manner required by applicable law; and  
 
WHEREAS, on November 10, 2020, a public hearing was held on the adoption of this 

Ordinance. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by the Board of Directors of Ramona Municipal 
Water District as follows: 
 
 Section 1. The matters set forth in the recitals to this Ordinance are true and correct 

statements and are incorporated herein as findings. 
 
 Section 2. This Ordinance is not subject to the California Environmental Quality Act. 
 
 Section 3. Chapter 5.28 of the Ramona Municipal Water District Legislative Code is 

hereby amended as set forth in Exhibit A, which is fully incorporated herein.  
Exhibit A includes the adoption by reference of the County’s Defensible 
Space for Fire Protection Ordinance, Chapter 4 of Division 8 of Title 6 of the 
San Diego County Code of Regulatory Ordinances, sections 68.401-68.419 
and San Diego County’s Public Nuisance Abatement Procedure, Chapter 2 of 
Division 6 of Title 1 of the County Code of Regulatory Ordinances, sections 
16.201-16.218 solely for use with the County’s enforcement of the 
Defensible Space for Fire Protection Ordinance. 

 
 Section 4. Upon the Effective Date of this Ordinance and for the duration of the MOU, 

the District hereby designates the Fire Chief and the Fire Chief hereby 
designates the County Abatement Officer and Fire Warden as the persons 
designated to carry out enforcement of the Defensible Space for Fire 
Protection Ordinance, including but not limited to giving notice to destroy 
weeds under applicable law.    

  
 Section 5. This Ordinance supersedes any ordinance, resolution, policy, or part thereof, 

previously adopted, to the extent such ordinance, resolution, or policy 
conflicts with this Ordinance. 

 
Section 6. If any provision of this Ordinance or the application of any such provision to 

any person or circumstance is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect 
other provisions or applications of this Ordinance that can be given effect 
without the invalid provision or application, and to this end the provisions of 
this Ordinance are severable.  The Board declares that it would have adopted 
this Ordinance irrespective of the invalidity of any particular portion of this 
Ordinance.  
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Section 7. The amendments to Chapter 5.28 of the Legislative Code shown in Exhibit A 

shall become effective in 30 days in accordance with Government Code 
section 25123. 

 
Section 8. This Ordinance shall be published in accordance with Government Code 

section 25124. 
 
Introduced and first read at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the Ramona 

Municipal Water District held on October 13, 2020. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the Ramona 

Municipal Water District held on November 10, 2020, by the following roll call vote: 
 
AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

 
 
_____________________________ 

                                                       Jim Robinson 
                                                                                    President, Board of Directors 
                                                                                    Ramona Municipal Water District 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Jeff Lawler 
Secretary, Board of Directors 
Ramona Municipal Water District 
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Chapter 5.28  
  
  

NUISANCES  
  
  
Contents:  
  

 

Section 5.28.010  Definitions.  
Section 5.28.011  County of San Diego Combustible Vegetation and Other Flammable 

Materials Ordinance.  
Section 5.28.020  Public Nuisances.  
Section 5.28.030  County of San Diego Defensible Space Ordinance. 

Standards for Nuisance Abatement, Vegetation Clearance and 
Hazard Reduction.  

Section 5.28.040  Notice to Abate Nuisance.  
Section 5.28.050  Right of Appeal.  
Section 5.28.060  Time Limit for Removal of Nuisance.  
Section 5.28.070  Abatement of Nuisance by Fire Chief.  
Section 5.28.080  Hearing: Posting of Time and Place.  
Section 5.28.090  Hearing: Board of Directors’ Decision.  
Section 5.28.100  Payment Prior to Hearing.  
Section 5.28.110  Collection of Assessments.  
Section 5.28.120  Violation: Penalty.  
Section 5.28.130  Discretion.  
Section 5.28.140  State Responsibility Area.  
  
  
Section 5.28.010  Definitions.  
  
For the purposes of this Chapter 5.28, the following terms shall be defined as follows, except that 
to the extent any of these definitions conflict with those in Section 5.28.030, then the definitions 
found in Section 5.28.030 shall control for the application to Section 5.28.030:  
  
“Abatement Report” shall mean that report filed by the Fire Chief with the board of directors 
detailing abatement work performed by the Fire Chief to remove a nuisance upon the failure of 
the property owner to remove the nuisance after Notice, as defined and required herein.  The 
Abatement Report shall include an accurate account of the cost of abating the nuisance on each 
separate property.  
  
“Fire Authority Having Jurisdiction” (“FAHJ”) shall mean the designated entity providing 
enforcement of fire regulations as such regulations relate to planning, construction and 
development.  
  
“Fire Chief” shall mean the Chief of the District’s Fire Department or his or her authorized 
designee.  
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“Fire Code” shall mean the Fire Code as adopted by the District in its Legislative Code, which 
incorporates the California Fire Code by reference, as may be amended from time to time.  
  
“Fire Marshal” shall mean the Fire Marshal of the District or his or her authorized designee. 
“Notice” shall mean one or all of the following methods of notice, whichever method(s) is best 
suited, in the discretion of the Fire Chief, to provide actual notice to the property owner:  
  

A. By personal service on the owner, occupant or person in charge or control of the  
 property;   
  
B. By regular mail addressed to the owner or person in charge and control of the  
property, at the address shown on the last available assessment roll, or as  otherwise 
known;  
  
C. By posting at a conspicuous place on the land or abutting public right-of-way or  
insertion of an advertisement at least once a week for the period of two weeks in  a 
newspaper of general circulation in the district. Said newspaper advertisement shall be a 
general notice that property in the district has been posted in accordance with this section 
and contain a general statement of the effect of  such postings. The date of such 
newspaper advertisements shall not be considered in computing the appeal periods 
provided by this chapter.  
  

“Structure” shall mean a residence, detached garage, utility building or related facility designed 
for human habitation or buildings designed for agricultural use or the housing of farm animals.  
  
“Waste Matter” shall mean matter, which by reason of its location and/or character, may, in the 
Fire Chief’s discretion, hamper or interfere with the prevention or suppression of fire upon the 
premises or adjacent premises, such as, but not limited to, combustible, non-functioning material.  
  
“Weeds” shall mean, pursuant to California Health and Safety Code section 14875, as such 
section may be amended from time to time, vegetation growing upon streets, sidewalks, or private 
property in any county, including any fire protection district and may include any of the following:  
  

A. Vegetation that bears seeds of a downy or wingy nature.  
  
B. Vegetation that is not pruned or is otherwise neglected so as to attain such large 

growth as to become, when dry, a fire menace to adjacent improved property.  
  
C. Vegetation that is otherwise noxious or dangerous.  
  
D. Poison oak and poison ivy when the conditions of growth are such as to constitute 

a menace to the public health.  
  
E. Dry grass, stubble, brush, litter, or other flammable material which endangers the 

public safety by creating a fire hazard in an urbanized portion of an unincorporated 
area which has been zoned for single and multiple residence purposes.  
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Section 5.28.011 County of San Diego Combustible Vegetation and Other Flammable 
Materials Ordinance.  

  
The District hereby adopts the County of San Diego Combustible Vegetation and Other 
Flammable Materials Ordinance, Ordinance No. 9633, (“County Ordinance”) by this reference as 
may be applicable and as such Ordinance may be revised by the County of San Diego from time 
to time.  To the extent that the County Ordinance conflicts with any provision of this Legislative 
Code, this Legislative Code shall govern.  In applying the County Ordinance to the District, the 
terms “County” and “Director” referenced in the County Ordinance shall be interpreted to mean 
the “District” and the “General Manager or his or her designee,” respectively.  
  
    
Section 5.28.020  Public Nuisances.  
  
The District hereby declares the following as public nuisances:  
  

A. Weeds, grasses and other combustible items are hereby declared a public nuisance.  
  
1. All weeds, dry grasses, dead shrubs, dead trees, rubbish or any material 

growing upon the streets, sidewalks or upon private property within the 
district which bears seeds of a wingy or downy nature or which by reason 
of their size, manner of growth and location constitute a fire hazard to any 
building, improvements, crops or other property, and weeds and grasses 
which, when dry, will in reasonable probability constitute such a fire hazard, 
are declared to be a public nuisance.  

  
2. Cultivated and useful grasses and pasture may not be declared a public 

nuisance. It is not intended that natural chaparral and shrubbery be 
generally considered as weeds or a public nuisance.  However, if the Fire 
Chief shall determine it necessary to protect adjacent improved property 
from fire exposure, an adequate fire-break may be required.  

      
B. Waste Matter is hereby declared a public nuisance.  

    
    
Section 5.28.030  County of San Diego Defensible Space Ordinance.Standards for 

Nuisance Abatement, Vegetation Clearance and Hazard Reduction.  
    
A. The District hereby adopts by reference the County of San Diego Defensible Space for Fire 

Protection Ordinance, Chapter 4 of Division 8 of Title 6 of the San Diego County Code of 
Regulatory Ordinances (“County Code”), sections 68.401-68.419 (“Defensible Space 
Ordinance”) as may be amended from time to time.  The Defensible Space Ordinance includes 
County Code section 68.405, which says that abatement is handled pursuant to the County’s 
Public Nuisance Abatement Procedure, Chapter 2 of Division 6 of Title 1 of the County Code, 
sections 16.201-16.218 (“Nuisance Abatement Procedures”) as may be amended from time 
to time, which the District hereby adopts by reference solely for the purposes of County 
enforcement pursuant to the Defensible Space Ordinance and this Section.   

 

ATTACHMENT 1

C.1.a. Page 9



EXHIBIT A 
RMWD LEGISLATIVE CODE  

            Chapter 5.28 Page 4   

B. In applying the Defensible Space Ordinance to the District, the terms “County” and “Board of 
Supervisors” referenced in the Defensible Space Ordinance shall be interpreted to mean the 
“County” or the “District” and the “Board of Supervisors” or the “District Board or its designee,” 
respectively, as the context requires.  

 
C. For as long as the District and the County have a memorandum of understanding for the 

County to enforce the Defensible Space Ordinance within the District pursuant to County Code 
section 68.403(b), the District delegates to the County the administrative and enforcement 
authority for the Defensible Space Ordinance and procedures set forth in the County’s 
Nuisance Abatement Procedures. During the term of the memorandum of understanding, the 
County will proceed with enforcement pursuant to the County procedures, including but not 
limited to County’s Nuisance Abatement Procedures. When such a memorandum of 
understanding is not in effect, the District will exercise its enforcement authority as set forth in 
this Chapter and in accordance with applicable state law. 

 Property owners shall maintain their property in compliance with the following at all times:  
  

A. Waste Matter, trash, rubbish, and other combustible materials such as dead or 
dying vegetation must be properly removed and disposed of.  

  
B. Properties (parcels) one (1) acre, or less, located within the District shall have the 

entire property cleared of annual grasses, weeds and dead or dying vegetation.  
  
C. Roadways and driveways shall be cleared of combustible vegetation (excluding 

single specimen trees and properly maintained ornamental shrubbery) within ten 
feet (10') along both sides. All dead or dying vegetation shall likewise be removed 
within 10'.  Vertical clearance of 13' 6" shall be maintained above all roadways and 
driveways for emergency vehicle access.  

  
D. A one-hundred foot (100') fuel modification zone is required around all Structures. 

The fuel modification zones shall not extend beyond the property line. The fuel 
modification zone is divided into two zones as follows, measured horizontally from 
the base of the Structure:  

  
1. Zone One: area within a 50' foot radius of any from any building. This zone 

must be cleared and planted with fire resistive plants. See the County of 
San Diego brochure: ̀ Fire, Defensible Space and You' at www.sdcdplu.org.  

  
2. Zone Two: area between 50 to 100' feet from Structures. In this zone, native 

vegetation may remain but must be thinned by fifty percent (50%) with 
decreased continuity; all dead or dying vegetation must be properly 
removed. Grass and other vegetation less than 18" in height, above the 
ground need not be removed when necessary to stabilize the soil and 
prevent erosion.  

  
E. A fifty (50) foot fuel modification zone is required along and within property lines as 

determined by the Fire Chief to protect adjacent Structures.  
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F. Clearing may be accomplished using methods such as mowing, cutting, grazing 
and trimming that leave the plant root structure intact. Removed trees shall have 
stumps cut no higher than eight inches (8") above the ground; however, orchards 
shall have the stumps removed. Any removed tree cuttings may be chipped and 
left on the parcel atop the soil to a maximum depth of six inches (6”) and does not 
present a fire hazard. Clearing does not apply to properly maintained ornamental 
shrubbery or single specimen trees that do not form a means of rapidly transmitting 
fire to the Structure.  Discing, which exposes bare mineral soil may be used if 
approved by the FAHJ.  Grading shall not be used to clear properties without a 
valid County of San Diego-Department of Planning and Land Use grading permit.  

  
G. All orchards, groves, vineyards, regardless of parcel size, shall be kept in a healthy 

state and maintained as described herein.  A 10-foot firebreak shall be cleared, 
between the perimeters, orchard trees, grape vines and combustible chaparral or 
ornamental landscaping.  Orchards shall be kept clean of dead, dying or downed 
trees.  Orchards and vineyards shall be free of combustible debris, dead branches 
and dead foliage.  All dead grasses and weeds between rows of trees or vines 
shall be mowed or disced to bare soil.  

  
H. All forests and woodlands shall be kept in a healthy state and maintained as 

described herein.  The forests or woodlands shall be kept clean of dead, dying, 
downed or diseased trees (excluding tree stumps no higher than six inches (6”) 
above the ground).  Dead, dying and diseased trees shall include insect infested 
trees, no longer living, in the last stages of growth or infected by a pathogen of any 
type.  

  
I. Cuttings may be mulched and left atop of the soil to a maximum depth of six (6) 

inches or may be hauled to a County Landfill site.  
  
J. Mature trees must be trimmed to six (6) feet above the ground or as approved by 

the FAHJ. Trees must be cut back at least ten feet (10') from chimneys and roofs.  
All leaves, pine needles, bark, branches and other debris must be removed from 
roofs and rain gutters.   

  
K. There shall be ten feet (10) of clearance around all liquid propane and above 

ground fuel tanks, all combustible materials, grass, weeds, etc. shall be removed.  
  

Chimneys must be equipped with an approved spark arrestor; i.e., wire mesh maximum ½ inch 
opening.  
   
  
Section 5.28.040  Notice to Abate Nuisance.  
  
If it is determined that a public nuisance, as herein defined, exists on any lot or premise, or upon 
any sidewalk, parking or street adjacent to such lot or premise, the Fire Chief shall cause Notice 
to be issued the procedures to abate such nuisance set forth in this Chapter and in accordance 
with applicable state law, as it may be amended from time to time, to be followed.  Unless 
otherwise provided by this Chapter or applicable state law, such Notice shall be entitled: "NOTICE 
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TO CLEAN PREMISES" in letters not less than one inch in length and which shall, in legible 
characters, direct the abatement of the nuisance and refer to this chapter and section for 
particulars. Notices served by means other than posting shall contain a description of the property 
in general terms reasonably sufficient to identify the location of the nuisance thereon.  
  
Section 5.28.050  Right of Appeal.  
  
Within ten (10) calendar days from the date of posting, mailing or personal service of the required 
Notice, the owner or person occupying or controlling such lot or premise affected may appeal to 
the Fire Marshal. Such appeal shall be in writing and shall be filed with the Fire Marshal.  Within 
ten (10) calendar days from the Fire Marshal’s decision, the appellant may appeal the Fire 
Marshal’s decision to the general manager.  Within ten (10) calendar days from the general 
manager’s decision, the appellant may appeal the general manager’s decision to the board of 
directors.  The board of directors shall consider the appeal of the general manager’s decision at 
a regular meeting or regular adjourned meeting of the board, and the decision of the board shall 
be final and conclusive.  This section shall apply unless otherwise required by this Chapter or 
applicable state law. 
 
    
Section 5.28.060  Time Limit for Removal of Nuisance.  
  
Unless otherwise required by this Chapter or applicable state law, it shall be the duty of the owner, 
the agent of the owner, or the person in possession of any lot or premise in the district within ten 
(10) calendar days from the date of notification as provided herein, or in case of an appeal to the 
board, within ten (10) calendar days from the determination thereof, unless the same is sustained, 
to remove the nuisance as stated.  
 
    
Section 5.28.070  Abatement of Nuisance by Fire Chief.  
  
If the owner fails or neglects to remove the nuisance as herein defined, within the time specified 
in this chapter, the Fire Chief shall cause such nuisance to be abated. The abatement work may 
be done by district crews or by private contractor at such rates and fees as may be authorized 
and approved by the FAHJ and/or the general manager. An Abatement Report shall be filed with 
the board of directors by the Fire Chief following the abatement. This section shall apply unless 
otherwise required by this Chapter or applicable state law. 
 
 
 
 
Section 5.28.080  Hearing: Posting of Time and Place.  
  
Unless otherwise required by this Chapter or applicable state law, the general manager shall set 
the Abatement Report and account for hearing by the board of directors at the first regular or 
adjourned meeting and shall post a copy of said report and account and notice of the time and 
place of hearing in a conspicuous place at or near the entrance of the chambers of the board of 
directors in the Ramona Community Center.  
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Section 5.28.090  Hearing: Board of Directors’ Decision.  
  
The board of directors shall consider the Abatement Report and account at the time set for 
hearing, together with any objections or protests by any interested parties. Any owner of land or 
person interested therein may present a written or oral protest or objection to the Abatement 
Report and account. At the conclusion of the hearing, the board of directors shall either approve 
the report and account as submitted, or as modified or corrected by the board. The amounts so 
approved shall be liens upon the respective lots or premises, and the board shall adopt a 
resolution assessing said amounts as liens upon the respective parcels of land as they are shown 
upon the last available assessment roll, and determining that such Weeds, grasses, dead trees, 
dead shrubs and Waste Matter constitute a public nuisance. The general manager shall prepare 
and file with the county auditor of the county of San Diego a certified copy of such resolution of 
the board. This section shall apply unless otherwise required by this Chapter or applicable state 
law. 
   
  
Section 5.28.100  Payment Prior to Hearing.  
  
The general manager may accept payment of any amount due at any time prior to the hearing.   
  
    
Section 5.28.110  Collection of Assessments.  
  
The county auditor shall enter each assessment in the county tax roll opposite the parcel of land. 
The amount of the assessment shall be collected at the time and in the manner of ordinary district 
taxes; and, if delinquent, the amount is subject to the same penalties and procedure of  foreclosure 
and sale as is provided for ordinary district taxes.  
    
  
Section 5.28.120  Violation: Penalty.  
  
The owner, occupant or agent of any lot or premises within the district who shall permit or allow 
the existence of a public nuisance as defined in this chapter, upon any lot or premises owned, 
occupied or controlled by him or who shall violate any of the provisions of this chapter, shall be 
guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction thereof shall be subject to a fine of not more than 
five hundred dollars or to imprisonment for a period not exceeding six months, or both such fine 
and imprisonment.  
  
    
Section 5.28.130  Discretion.  
  
Subject to the rights of appeal as set forth in this chapter, where discretion is herein given to 
determine a public nuisance or reasonable probability thereof or any material question of fact 
herein raised, that discretion shall lie with the Fire Chief.  
    
  
Section 5.28.140  State Responsibility Area.  
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Within the State Responsibility Area in the Ramona Municipal Water District, as defined herein, 
consistent with California Health & Safety Code Section 13811, responsibility for the 
administration of a nuisance abatement program, including but not limited to, the inspection, 
notification and abatement of timbered, brush, and grass-covered lands, shall lie with the State of 
California, Department of Fire and Forestry Protection.  “State Responsibility Area” shall mean, 
“lands exclusive of cities and federal lands regardless of ownership, classified by the State Board 
of Forestry as areas in which the primary financial responsibility for preventing and suppressing 
fires is that of the State.  These are lands covered wholly or in part by timber, brush, undergrowth 
or grass, whether of commercial value or not, which protect the soil from erosion, retard runoff of 
water or accelerated percolation, and lands used principally for range or forage purposes.”  The 
Ramona Municipal Water District shall not be responsible for the administration of a nuisance 
abatement program, as outlined in the preceding Sections 5.28.010 through 5.28.130 of this 
Legislative Code, for property located within the State Responsibility Area.  Sections 5.28.010 
through 5.28.130 of this Legislative Code shall apply to properties located outside of the State 
Responsibility Area but within the Ramona Municipal Water District.  
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CHAPTER 4.  DEFENSIBLE SPACE FOR FIRE PROTECTION ORDINANCE*

   *Note--Chapter 4, Abatement of Weeds and Rubbish, Sections 68.410--68.419, added by Ord. No. 6998 (N.S.), effective
7-24-85; Ord. No. 7001 (N.S.) adopted 7-30-85, effective 8-29-85, supersedes Ord. No. 6998; amended (including title) by
Ord. No. 9633 (N.S.), effective 4-23-04; amended (including title) by Ord. No. 10147 (N.S.), effective 6-9-11.

   Cross reference(s)--Uniform public nuisance abatement procedure, § 16.201 et seq.; management of solid waste, §
68.501 et seq.

SEC. 68.401.  FINDINGS.

   The Board of Supervisors makes the following findings and declarations:

   The accumulation of combustible vegetation, dead, dying or diseased trees, green waste, rubbish, and other materials on
private property is hereby found to create a condition that is a fire hazard and potentially injurious to the health, safety, and
general welfare of the public.  Therefore, the presence of such combustible vegetation, dead, dying or diseased trees, green
waste, rubbish, and other materials on parcels as hereinafter defined is hereby declared to constitute a public nuisance
which may be abated in accordance with the provisions of this chapter.  Nothing in this chapter shall replace or conflict with
the authority of the County Agricultural Commissioner to eradicate noxious weeds under applicable sections of the California
Food and Agricultural Code.

(Amended by Ord. No. 9633 (N.S.), effective 4-23-04; amended by Ord. No. 10147 (N.S.), effective 6-9-11)

   Cross reference(s)--Uniform public nuisance abatement procedure, § 16.201 et seq.

SEC. 68.402.  DEFINITIONS.

   For the purpose of this chapter, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings respectively ascribed to them in
this section:

   (a)   "COMBUSTIBLE VEGETATION" is material that in its natural state will readily ignite, burn and transmit fire from native
or landscape plants to any structure or other vegetation.  Combustible vegetation includes dry grass, brush, weeds, litter or
other flammable vegetation that creates a fire hazard.

   (b)   "DEAD, DYING OR DISEASED TREES" include pest or pathogen infested trees, abandoned or neglected groves or
other trees which are in a dying condition or no longer living.

   (c)   "DEFENSIBLE SPACE" is an area either natural or man-made, where material capable of allowing a fire to spread
unchecked has been treated, cleared or modified to slow the rate and intensity of an advancing wildfire and to create an
area for fire suppression operations to occur.

   (d)   "FIRE WARDEN" means the Deputy Chief Administrative Officer of the Public Safety Group or his/her authorized
representative.

   (e)   "GREEN WASTE" includes, but is not limited to, organic material such as yard trimmings, plant waste, untreated
wood wastes, paper products, natural fiber products, mulch and compost.

   (f)   "IMPROVEMENT" means any building or structure, permanent or temporary, erected for the support, shelter, or
enclosure of persons, animals, chattels, or property of any kind located in the unincorporated area of the County of San
Diego subject to this chapter and shall include agricultural crops.  For purposes of this chapter, the term "improvement" shall
not include decks, sheds, gazebos, freestanding open-sided shade structures and similar accessory structures less than 250
square feet and 30 feet or more from a dwelling, and fences more than 5 feet from a dwelling.

   (g)   "MSCP SUBAREA"  means that area shown as the "County of San Diego MSCP Subarea" on the map which is
"Attachment A" to the Biological Mitigation Ordinance (found at Chapter 5 of Division 6 of Title 8 of the County Code) as
referenced in Section 86.502 of the County Code and on file with the Clerk of the Board of Supervisors as Document No.
0769999.

   (h)   "NOXIOUS WEED" shall mean any species of plant that is, or is liable to be, troublesome, aggressive, intrusive,
detrimental, or destructive to agriculture, silviculture, or important native species, and difficult to control or eradicate, as
defined in Section 5004 of the California Food and Agricultural Code.

   (i)   "PARCEL" means any contiguous quantity of land in the possession of, or owned by, or recorded as the property of,
the same person or entity and which is located in the unincorporated area of the County of San Diego subject to this chapter
but shall not include any portion of a parcel that has been in active production of agricultural crops within one growing
season of that crop.

   (j)   "PUTRESCIBLE" means rapidly decomposable by microorganisms, which may give rise to foul smelling, offensive
products during such decomposition or which is capable of attracting or providing food for birds and potential disease
vectors such as rodents and flies.

   (k)   "RESPONSIBLE PARTY" includes, but is not limited to, any person, firm, partnership or corporation owning, renting,
leasing, or otherwise controlling any parcel located in the unincorporated area of the County of San Diego subject to this
chapter.
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   (l)   "RUBBISH" is waste material including, but not limited to, waste paper and debris from construction or demolition.  For
the purposes of this chapter, the term "rubbish" does not include putrescible material.

(Amended by Ord. No. 7186 (N.S.), effective 9-12-86; amended by Ord. No. 9633 (N.S.), effective 4-23-04; amended by
Ord. No. 10147 (N.S.), effective 6-9-11)

   Cross reference(s)--Definitions, § 12.101 et seq.

SEC. 68.403.  ENFORCEMENT RESPONSIBILITY/ APPLICABILITY.

   (a)   This chapter shall be applicable in all unincorporated territory of the County of San Diego outside of the fire protection
districts or municipal water districts which provide fire protection services, and the Fire Warden shall administer and enforce
the provisions of this chapter.

   (b)   This chapter shall be applicable in the unincorporated territory of the County of San Diego within a fire protection
district or municipal water district which provides fire protection service if the district has adopted this ordinance by reference
through enactment of its own district ordinance.  In such case, administrative and enforcement responsibility shall rest with
the district, and the County shall bear no such enforcement responsibility except to the extent specifically approved by the
Fire Warden through a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with the district.

(Amended by Ord. No. 7186 (N.S.), effective 9-12-86; amended by Ord. No. 9633 (N.S.), effective 4-23-04; amended by
Ord. No. 10147 (N.S.), effective 6-9-11)

SEC. 68.404.  PROHIBITIONS/ DEFENSIBLE SPACE REQUIREMENTS.

   (a)   Defensible Space for Improvements.  No responsible party shall permit on a parcel, or on any adjacent sidewalks,
parking areas, or streets, any accumulation of combustible vegetation, dead, dying or diseased trees, green waste, rubbish,
or other flammable materials within 100 feet of the exterior perimeter of any improvement thereon, provided, however, the
Fire Warden may authorize a distance less than 100 feet, but no less than 30 feet, in accordance with the exceptions found
in the defensible space requirements found in the Fire Code at section 96.1.001 et seq. of the San Diego County Code. 
Where the distance from the improvement to the property line of the parcel on which the improvement is located is less than
the required defensible space, the responsible party shall only be required to provide the required defensible space to the
property line.

   (b)   Defensible Space along Property Lines. No responsible party shall permit on a parcel any accumulation of
combustible vegetation, dead, dying or diseased trees, green waste, rubbish, or other flammable materials within 30 feet of
the property line when such accumulation endangers or encroaches on the required defensible space for improvements on
an adjacent property.  The Fire Warden may require a distance greater than 30 feet but not to exceed 100 feet when it is
determined that the greater distance is necessary to provide defensible space for improvements on an adjacent property.

   (c)   Defensible Space along Roads and Driveways. No responsible party shall permit on a parcel any accumulation of
combustible vegetation, dead, dying or diseased trees, green waste, rubbish, or other flammable materials within 10 feet of
each side of the improved width of highways, private roads and driveways, provided, however, the Fire Warden may require,
after providing written notice to the responsible party, a distance greater than 10 feet in accordance with the defensible
space requirements found in the Fire Code at section 96.1.001 et seq. of the San Diego County Code.

   (d)   Additional Defensible Space. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsections (a), (b), and (c) of this section, if the Fire
Warden determines that a greater distance is necessary to protect property or the health, safety and welfare of residents of
the vicinity, the Fire Warden may require a responsible party to provide additional defensible space up to the following
maximum acreages on parcels which meet the following criteria:

      i.   Two acres, on parcels located within the Pre-Approved Mitigation Area of the MSCP Subarea that are 10 acres and
under in size and zoned for single family residential uses if the Fire Warden finds that the defensible space will not interfere
with the assembly of the Multiple Species Conservation Plan Preserve according to the terms of the MSCP Plan and the
Subarea Plan.

      ii.   Five acres, on parcels located outside the Pre-Approved Mitigation Area of the MSCP Subarea that are 10 acres and
under in size and zoned for single family residential uses if the Fire Warden finds that the defensible space will not interfere
with the assembly of the Multiple Species Conservation Plan Preserve according to the terms of the MSCP Plan and the
Subarea Plan.

      iii.   Five acres, on parcels located outside the MSCP Subarea zoned for single family residential use and improved with
a single family residence.

   (e)   Combustible Vegetation. For purposes of this section, combustible vegetation does not include single specimens of
trees, fire-resistant ornamental shrubbery, and other fire-resistant planting materials or cultivated ground covers which the
Fire Warden determines do not form a means of rapidly transmitting fire from native or landscape plants to any improvement
or other vegetation.

   (f)   Grading. The provisions of this chapter shall not be construed to authorize grading which does not comply with the
San Diego County regulations regarding grading, clearing and watercourses found in Division 7 of Title 8 of the San Diego
County Code.

(Amended by Ord. No. 9633 (N.S.), effective 4-23-04; amended by Ord. No. 10147 (N.S.), effective 6-9-11)

ATTACHMENT 2

C.1.a. Page 16



SEC. 68.405.  PUBLIC NUISANCE.

   Whenever combustible vegetation, dead, dying or diseased trees, green waste, rubbish, or other materials are allowed to
grow or accumulate on a parcel, or on adjacent sidewalks, parking areas, or streets, so as to endanger improvements on
such parcel or neighboring property, or the health, safety, or welfare of the residents of such parcel or adjacent parcel or
vicinity, as prohibited by Section 68.404, the Fire Warden may declare a public nuisance and proceed to abate, in
accordance with the Public Nuisance Abatement Procedure contained in Chapter 2 of Division 6 of Title 1 (commencing with
Section 16.201) of the San Diego County Code or any other procedure permitted by law.

(Amended by Ord. No. 7141 (N.S.), effective 6-26-86; amended by Ord. No. 9633 (N.S.), effective 4-23-04; amended by
Ord. No. 10147 (N.S.), effective 6-9-11)

SEC. 68.406. REMOVAL OF PROHIBITED MATERIALS.

   The following are approved methods for the removal of prohibited materials:

   (a)   The removal of prohibited materials shall be done using methods such as mowing, cutting, grazing and trimming that
leave the plant root structure intact to stabilize the soil and prevent erosion.  Removed trees shall have the stumps cut no
higher than eight inches above the ground.  The height of weeds and annual grasses shall not exceed a height of six
inches.  Any chipping of trees or vegetation that is done onsite may be allowed to remain so long it is dispersed over an area
not to exceed six inches in depth.  If the Fire Warden determines that difficult terrain, danger of erosion, or other unusual
circumstances make strict compliance with this section undesirable or impractical, enforcement thereof may be suspended
and reasonable alternative measures shall be provided.

   (b)   Areas where prohibited materials are removed may be re-planted with single specimens of trees, fire-resistant
ornamental shrubbery, and other fire-resistant planting materials or cultivated ground covers which do not form a means of
rapidly transmitting fire from native or landscape plants to any improvement or other vegetation, to the Fire Warden's
satisfaction.  Re-planting may be required for erosion control.

   (c)   The removal of prohibited materials shall be carried out in conformance with all federal, state and local environmental
laws and regulations including, but not limited to, the Endangered Species Act and the San Diego County regulations
regarding grading, clearing and watercourses found in Division 7 of Title 8 of the San Diego County Code.

(Repealed by Ord. No. 7141 (N.S.), effective 6-26-86; new Sec. 68.406 added by Ord. No. 9633 (N.S.), effective 4-23-04;
amended by Ord. No. 10147 (N.S.), effective 6-9-11)

SEC. 68.407. [RESERVED.]

(Repealed by Ord. No. 7141 (N.S.), effective 6-26-86)

SEC. 68.408. [RESERVED.]

(Repealed by Ord. No. 7141 (N.S.), effective 6-26-86)

SEC. 68.409. [RESERVED.]

(Repealed by Ord. No. 7141 (N.S.), effective 6-26-86)

SEC. 68.410. [RESERVED.]

(Repealed by Ord. No. 7141 (N.S.), effective 6-26-86)

SEC. 68.411. [RESERVED.]

(Repealed by Ord. No. 7141 (N.S.), effective 6-26-86)

SEC. 68.412. [RESERVED.]

(Repealed by Ord. No. 7141 (N.S.), effective 6-26-86)

SEC. 68.413. [RESERVED.]

(Repealed by Ord. No. 7141 (N.S.), effective 6-26-86)

SEC. 68.414. [RESERVED.]

(Repealed by Ord. No. 7141 (N.S.), effective 6-26-86)

SEC. 68.415. [RESERVED.]

(Repealed by Ord. No. 7141 (N.S.), effective 6-26-86)

SEC. 68.416. [RESERVED.]

(Repealed by Ord. No. 7141 (N.S.), effective 6-26-86)
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SEC. 68.417. [RESERVED.]

(Repealed by Ord. No. 7141 (N.S.), effective 6-26-86)

SEC. 68.418. [RESERVED.]

(Repealed by Ord. No. 7141 (N.S.), effective 6-26-86)

SEC. 68.419. [RESERVED.]

(Repealed by Ord. No. 7141 (N.S.), effective 6-26-86)
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RAMONA MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 

AGENDA MEMO 
 

        Agenda Item No. F.1. 
        Regular Board Meeting of November 10, 2020  

 
Jim Robinson, President 
and Members of the Board of Directors 
Ramona, CA  92065 
 
RE: INFORMATION ITEM FOR ACCEPTANCE OF THE AUDITED FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 
Members of the Board: 
 
Purpose 
To accept the audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 from the 
independent auditing firm, Squar Milner.  
 
Background 
The District is audited each year by an independent certified public accounting firm. The audit 
ensures the District’s compliance with accounting, internal control, and audit standards. While 
annual financial audits are mandated under California and Federal Government requirements, 
the District is pleased to provide these annual checks to demonstrate accountability and 
stewardship of public funds. 
 
Discussion 
The audited financial statements include the opinion of Squar Milner that the financial 
statements of RMWD present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of RMWD as 
of June 30, 2020.  
 
The audited financial statements are included as Attachment 1. These statements were 
prepared in accordance Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States of 
America. Squar Milner has issued an unmodified (“clean”) opinion on the District’s financial 
statements. 
 
Fiscal Impact 
None.  
 
Recommendation 
Staff respectfully recommends the Board accept the audited financial statements for Fiscal Year 
Ended June 30, 2020. 
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Prepared by:    Craig Schmollinger, Chief Financial Officer   

Submitted by: David Barnum, General Manager     
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
 

Board of Directors 
Ramona Municipal Water District 
Ramona, California 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Ramona Municipal Water District, as of and 
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 
collectively comprise the Ramona Municipal Water District’s basic financial statements as listed in the 
index to financial statements. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the State Controller's Minimum Audit Requirements for California Special Districts. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Ramona Municipal Water District, as of June 30, 2020, and the changes in financial 
position and cash flows thereof for the fiscal year then ended, in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America, as well as accounting systems prescribed by the State 
Controller’s Office and state regulations governing special districts. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's 
discussion and analysis on pages 3 through 9, and the schedules of proportionate share of the net pension 
liability and plan contributions on pages 42 and 43, and other post employment benefits schedule of 
changes in the total OPEB liability and related ratios on page 44 be presented to supplement the basic 
financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required 
by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical 
context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted 
of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, 
and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express 
an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide 
us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.  
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the Ramona Municipal Water District's basic financial statements. The organizational 
structure and assessed valuation presented in Other Supplementary Information are presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. The 
organizational structure and assessed valuation on pages 46 and 47 of the other supplementary 
information have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them. 
 
 
SQUAR MILNER LLP 
 

 
San Diego, California 
October 29, 2020 
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RAMONA MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

June 30, 2020 
 

 
 

Page 3 

As management of the Ramona Municipal Water District (the “District”), we offer the readers of the 
District’s financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the District 
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here 
in conjunction with the District’s basic financial statements, which begin immediately following this 
analysis. This annual financial report consists of three main parts (1) Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis, (2) Basic Financial Statements, and (3) Required Supplemental Information. 
 
The financial statements consist of a series of financial statements prepared in accordance with the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements – Management 
Discussion and Analysis for State and Local Governments. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 
• The District’s ending net position was $105,330,021. 

 
• The change in net position for the year was an increase of $218,173 due to an increase in non-

operating revenues.  
 

• The District’s operating revenues decreased by $242,792 or 1%, from $27,789,393 to $27,546,601, 
the prior year, primarily tied to decreases in fire and emergency medical services fees. 
 

• The District’s operating expenses increased by $2,685,342 or 8%, from $32,400,041 to $35,085,386, 
from the prior year, primarily due to amounts tied to water purchases by the District and related 
expenses, depreciation and general administration expenses. 

 
Unaudited Voluntary Supplemental Information  
 
Pension Costs through the California Public Employees Retirement System 
 
The District, like most local government entities in California, contracts with the California Public 
Employees Retirement System (CalPERS) for employee retirement services. The District is allocated a 
proportion of the CalPERS pension plan Net Pension Liability (NPL). The NPL is equal to the difference 
between the total pension liability and the pension plan’s fiduciary net position. The pension plan’s 
fiduciary net position is equal to the market value of plan assets. The District’s proportional share of the 
NPL for this period increased by $1,102,597 to $11,136,825, primarily due to the CalPERS Board decision 
to reduce the “discount rate” from 7.5% to 7.0% over a three-year period. The effect of this change is an 
assumed reduced rate of return on CalPERS investments, with the difference made up through an increase 
in employer contributions. 
 
FY17/18 was the first year of the rollout of this discount rate reduction, which went from 7.5% in FY16/17, 
to 7.35% for FY17/18. This discount rate was further reduced for FY19/20 to 7.25% which caused an 
increase in contributions of $199,373 from $1,187,209 in FY18/19 to $1,386,582 in FY19/20.  
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (continued) 

This situation is not unique to the District, as almost all CalPERS contracting governmental entities have 
faced similar increased required contributions. For the next reporting period (FY20/21), CalPERS will be 
reducing the discount rate further to 7.0% as the final year of reductions to meet the 7.0% target. 

Looking forward to FY20/21, the District is planning for these increased expenses to ensure we are 
meeting those pension related obligations. 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The District’s basic financial statements include the Statement of Net Position, Statement of Revenues, 
Expenses, and Changes in Net Position, Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the basic financial 
statements.   

• Statement of Net position: This statement presents information on all of the District’s assets and
liabilities, and deferred outflows/inflows of resources, with the difference reported as net
position. Increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the
financial position of the District is improving or deteriorating.

• Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position: This statement presents
information on the District’s current fiscal year’s revenue and expense. All changes in net position
are reported a soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the
timing of the related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for
some items will result in cash flows in future fiscal years.

• Statement of Cash Flows: This statement provides relevant information about the District’s cash
receipts and cash payments segregated among operating, capital and related financing, and
investing activities.

• Notes to the Basic Financial Statements: These notes provide a description of the accounting
policies used to prepare the financial statements and present material disclosures required by
generally accepted accounting principles that are not otherwise present in the financial
statements.

The District uses Enterprise Funds to account for the five (5) operating divisions. Those operating divisions 
are (1) Water, (2) Fire and Paramedic, (3) Parks and Recreation, (4) San Vicente Sewer and (5) Santa Maria 
Sewer.   
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OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

Water 

This operating division maintains and services both a treated water system and an untreated water 
system. The treated system distributes treated water upon demand to customers. The untreated system 
provides irrigation water to customers. Rates for both treated and untreated water are based upon the 
cost of treating, transporting, and delivering water to customers. 

Fire and Paramedic 

This operating division provides fire protection services and emergency medical services. The District 
contracts out this service to the California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (“CAL FIRE”), and 
maintains three fire stations. Rates for fire service charges and ambulance calls are based on the cost to 
service and maintain these fire stations. 

Parks and Recreation 

This operating division provides the land and facilities for a park, which is managed by the Ramona Parks 
and Recreation Association on a volunteer basis. The operating division receives funds from property 
taxes, through a special assessment known as “District A”, and the funds are remitted to the Ramona 
Parks and Recreation Association. 

San Vicente Sewer 

This operating division provides sewer service to the San Diego Country Estates area of Ramona. A service 
rate is set based on the cost of treatment and collection of sewage for this facility. 

Santa Maria Sewer 

This operating division provides sewer service to the downtown area of Ramona.  A service rate is set 
based on the cost of treatment and collection of sewage for this facility. 

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

The condensed summary below presents a summary of the District’s statement of net position. The 
District’s Net Position as June 30, 2020 totaled $105,330,021 compared with $105,111,848 as of June 30, 
2019, an increase of $218,173 or 0.2%. Net position is accumulated from revenues, expenses, and 
contributed capital combined with the beginning balance of net position as presented in the Statement 
of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position. 
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Condensed Statement of Net Position 

2020 2019 $ Change

Current Assets 51,425,281$   52,739,621$   (1,314,340)$     
Capital assets, net 77,081,357     72,428,002     4,653,355         

Total assets 128,506,638   125,167,623   3,339,015         

Deferred outflows of resources 3,526,818        3,460,215        66,603               

Current liabilities 8,118,446        6,675,889        1,442,557         
Compensated absences, less current portion 643,954           620,105           23,849               
Long-term debt, less current portion 2,980,000        3,263,000        (283,000)           
Net pension liability 11,136,825     10,034,228     1,102,597         
OPEB liability 1,920,987        1,486,441        434,546            

Total liabilities 24,800,212     22,079,663     2,720,549         

Deferred inflows of resources 1,903,223        1,436,327        466,896            

Net investment in capital assets 59,901,939     56,542,526     3,359,413         
Unrestricted 45,428,082     48,569,322     (3,141,240)       

Total net position 105,330,021$ 105,111,848$ 218,173$          
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STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 

The condensed statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position below shows how the 
District’s net position changed during the fiscal years. In the case of the District, the District’s net position 
increased by $218,173 during the year ended June 30, 2020. 

Condensed Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Change in Net Position 

2020 2019 $ Change
Operating revenues:

Water sales and service fees 16,828,491$   16,739,262$   89,229$            
Fire and emergency medical service fees 3,717,133        3,991,402        (274,269)           
Sewer service fees 7,000,977        7,058,729        (57,752)             

Total operating revenues 27,546,601     27,789,393     (242,792)           

Operating expenses:
Water and related expenses 22,898,822     21,082,031     1,816,791         
Fire, emergency medical, and related

expenses 6,456,069        5,915,806        540,263            
Sewer and related expenses 5,587,692        5,272,204        315,488            
Park expenses 142,800           130,000           12,800               

Total operating expenses 35,085,383     32,400,041     2,685,342         

Operating income (loss) (7,538,782)      (4,610,648)      (2,928,134)       

Non-operating revenues (expenses):
Property taxes 6,812,125        6,533,532        278,593            
Investment income 664,123           762,252           (98,129)             
Other revenue and (expenses), net (5,711)              (92,581)            86,870               

Total non-operating revenues (expenses) 7,470,537        7,203,203        267,334            

Income (loss) before contributions (68,245)            2,592,555        (2,660,800)       

Assessment revenue 71,876              89,790              (17,914)             
Capital contributions 214,542           185,569           28,973               
Increase in net position 218,173           2,867,914        (2,649,741)       
Net position, beginning of year 105,111,848   102,243,934   2,867,914         
Net position, end of year 105,330,021$ 105,111,848$ 218,173$          
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BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 

The District adopts an annual operating budget which includes proposed expenses and the means of 
financing them. A comparison between actual and budgeted amounts are not required nor shown in the 
financial statements section of this report. 

A comparison of the operating results for fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 to the budget is presented 
below. 

Comparison of the Operating Results for 2020 to the Budget 

Favorable
Actual Budget (Unfavorable)

Operating revenues 27,546,601$   29,627,260$ (2,080,659)$    

Operating expenses:
Water and related expenses 22,898,822      24,519,831    1,621,009        
Fire and emergency medical expenses 6,456,069        7,341,672      885,603            
Sewer and related expenses 5,587,692        6,153,037      565,345            
Park expenses 142,800            155,651          12,851              

Total operating expenses 35,085,383      38,170,191    3,084,808        
Operating income (loss) (7,538,782)      (8,542,931)    1,004,149        

Non-operating revenues (expenses):
Property taxes 6,812,125        6,392,800      419,325            
Investment income 664,123            302,422          361,701            
Other revenue and (expenses) (5,711)               1,111              (6,822)               

Total non-operating revenues 7,470,537        6,696,333      774,204            
Income (loss) before contributions (68,245)$          (1,846,598)$  1,778,353$      

Unfavorable variance for operating revenues versus budgeted expectations are primarily related to a 
decrease in demand and water sales to District customers, including a large decrease in untreated water 
sales.  

CAPITAL ASSETS 

The District reported a net increase of $4,653,355 in net capital assets in fiscal year 2020. Capital asset 
additions during the year were for various projects and equipment. A comparison of changes in capital 
assets is provided in table below. 
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CAPITAL ASSETS (continued) 
 

Changes in Capital Assets 

2020 2019 $ Change
Land 10,073,828$   10,073,828$   -$                    
Construction in progress 20,282,497      12,035,392      8,247,105          
Water property, plant, lines, and

equipment 115,200,919   113,962,679   1,238,240          
Fire protection property, building 

and equipment 6,426,569        6,411,305        15,264                
Park buildings and equipment 1,874,283        1,874,283        -                           
San Vicente Sewer - property,

plant, lines, and equipment 24,423,246      24,399,577      23,669                
Santa Maria Sewer - property, 

plant, lines, and equipment 17,653,332      17,617,006      36,326                
Accumulated depreciation (118,853,317)  (113,946,068)  (4,907,249)        

Total capital assets 77,081,357$   72,428,002$   4,653,355$        

 
 
LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
As of June 30, 2020, the District had long-term debt in the amount of $3,263,000 in an installment 
purchase agreement. Long-term debt decreased by $275,000 or 8%. 
 

Changes in Long-Term Debt 

 
2020 2019 $ Change

Installment Purchase Agreement 3,263,000$      3,538,000$      (275,000)$          
Total long-term debt 3,263,000$      3,538,000$      (275,000)$          

 
 
CONTACTING THE DISTRICT’S FINANCIAL MANAGER 
 
Ramona Municipal Water District’s financial report is designed to provide Ramona Municipal Water 
District’s Board of Directors, legislative and oversight agencies, citizens, and customers with an overview 
of Ramona Municipal Water District’s finances and to demonstrate its accountability for funds received. 
For additional information about this report, please contact Ramona Municipal Water District, Craig 
Schmollinger, Chief Financial Officer, at 105 Earlham Street, Ramona, CA 92065 or (760) 789-1330.  
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Assets
Current assets:

Cash and investments 45,909,089$          
Accounts receivable, net:

Water and sewer, net of allowance for doubtful
accounts of $ 34,433 1,515,790

Property taxes 42,677
Interest receivable 118,681
Other receivables 508,058

Inventory, net of reserve of $25,000 3,330,986
Total current assets 51,425,281

Other assets:
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 77,081,357

Total non-current assets 77,081,357
Total assets 128,506,638          

Deferred outflows of resources
Pension related costs 3,526,818

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 132,033,456$        
Liabilities 

Current l iabil ities:
Accounts payable 3,499,432               
Deposits payable 4,058,896
Accrued interest payable 23,879
Unearned revenues 38,587

  Current portion of compensated absences 214,652                  
Current portion of installment purchase agreement 283,000

Total current l iabil ities 8,118,446               
Non-current l iabil ities:

Compensated absences, less current portion 643,954                  
Installment purchase agreement, less current portion 2,980,000
Net pension l iabil ity 11,136,825
OPEB liabil ity 1,920,987

Total non-current l iabil ities 16,681,766            
Total l iabil ities 24,800,212            

Deferred inflows of resources
Pension related costs 1,903,223

Net position
Net investment in capital assets 59,901,939            
Unrestricted 45,428,082            

Total net position 105,330,021          

Total l iabil ities, deferred inflows, and net position 132,033,456$        
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Operating revenues:
Water sales and service fees 16,828,491$         
Fire and emergency medical service fees 3,717,133             
Sewer service fees 7,000,977             

Total operating revenues 27,546,601           
Operating expenses:

Source of supply 7,166,549             
Treatment plants 1,238,475             
Reservoirs and pumping 1,586,696             
Transmission and distribution 2,330,333             
Sewer services 3,257,359             
Safety services 6,456,069             
Park services 142,800                 
Depreciation 4,907,249             
General and administrative 7,999,853             

Total operating expenses 35,085,383           
Operating loss (7,538,782)            

Non-operating revenues:
Property taxes 6,812,125             
Interest revenue 664,123                 
Other revenues and (expenses), net (5,711)                    

Total non-operating revenues 7,470,537             

Income before contributions (68,245)                  

Assessment revenue 71,876                   
Capital contributions 214,542                 
Change in net position 218,173                 
Net position - beginning 105,111,848         
Net position - ending 105,330,021$      
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Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from customers 27,384,795$         
Payments to suppliers and vendors (21,396,965)         
Payments to employees (4,638,358)            

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,349,472             

Cash flows from non-capital financing activities:
Property taxes 6,896,973             
Miscellaneous (8,673)                    

Net cash provided by non-capital financing activities 6,888,300             

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Capital contributions 214,542                 
Acquisition of capital assets (10,659,563)         
Disposal of capital assets 1,098,959             
Repayment of notes and contracts (275,000)               
Interest payments (2,133)                    

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (9,623,195)            

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Interest on investments 748,509                 

Net cash provided by investing activities 748,509                 

Net change in cash and investments (636,914)               

Cash and investments - beginning 46,546,003           

Cash and investments - ending 45,909,089$         

 
 

(continued) 
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(continued) 
 

Reconciliation to operating income to net cash
provided by operating activities:

Operating loss (7,538,782)$         
Adjustments to reconcile operating income 

to net cash provided by operating activities
Depreciation 4,907,249             

Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts receivable 85,446                   
Inventory 499,717                 
Deferred outflows of resources (66,603)                  

Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable 1,085,463             
Deposit payable 271,888                 
Unearned revenues 69,256                   
Compensation benefits payable 31,799                   
OPEB liability 434,546                 
Net pension liability 1,102,597             
Deferred inflows of resources 466,896                 

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,349,472             

Reconciliation to statement of net position
Unrestricted: cash and investments 45,909,089           

Total cash and investments 45,909,089$         
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1. ORGANIZATION AND OPERATIONS OF THE DISTRICT 
 
The Ramona Municipal Water District (the “District”) was formed on August 15, 1956, pursuant to the 
Municipal Water Act of 1911 (California Statutes of 1991, Charter 671 as amended) for the primary 
purpose of supplying water to Ramona, California and surrounding areas. A five-member Board of 
Directors elected to staggered four-year terms of office from five (5) geographical divisions governs the 
District. In addition, the District provides fire protection, paramedic, sewer, and park recreation services. 
 
In 1988, the District completed construction of Lake Ramona, a 12,100 acre-foot reservoir. Untreated 
water is purchased from the San Diego County Water Authority and pumped to the reservoir, and then 
sold to agricultural customers. 
 
In 1981, the Ramona Fire Protection District was dissolved and merged with the District. The District 
managed the fire department until July 1993, when a contract was entered into between the District and 
the California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (“CAL FIRE”), to provide fire and paramedic staff. 
 
In May 1975, the District was authorized to provide park and recreational services to the public. The 
District owns a 166-acre park in conjunction with its well fields. In 1994, the District entered into a contract 
with the Ramona Parks and Recreation Association (a non-profit public benefit organization), to operate 
and manage the park. 
 
 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The District accounts for its financial transactions in accordance with the policies and procedures of the 
Irrigation District Law, now Division 11, of the California State Water Code. The accounting policies of the 
District conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United State of America (“GAAP”) as 
applicable to governments and to general practice within California Special Districts. The District accounts 
for its financial transactions in accordance with the policies and procedures of the State Controller’s Office 
Division of Local Government Fiscal Affairs Minimum Audit Requirement and Reporting Guidelines for 
California Special Districts. 
 
Reporting Entity 
 
The District’s financial statements include the accounts of all its operations. The District evaluated 
whether any other entity should be included in these financial statements. The criteria for including 
organizations as component units within the District’s reporting entity, as set forth in GASB Statement No. 
14, The Financial Reporting Entity, subsequently amended by GASB Statement No. 39 Determining 
Whether Certain Organizations are Component Units, and GASB Statement No. 61, The Financial reporting 
Entity: Omnibus – an amendment of GASB Statement No. 14 and No. 34, include whether: 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Reporting Entity (continued) 
 

• the organization is legally separate (can sue and be sued in its name) 
• the District holds the corporate powers of the organization 
• the District appoints a voting majority of the organization’s board 
• the District is able to impose its will on the organization 
• the organization has the potential to impose a financial benefit/burden on the District 
• there is fiscal dependency by the organization on the District 
• it would be misleading or cause the financial statements to be incomplete to exclude another 

organization 
 
Based on these criteria, the District has no component units. Additionally, the District is not a component 
unit of any other reporting entity as defined by the GASB statement. 
 
The District uses Enterprise Funds to account for the five (5) operating divisions. Those operating divisions 
are (1) Water, (2) Fire and Paramedic, (3) Parks and Recreation, (4) San Vicente Sewer and (5) Santa Maria 
Sewer.   
 
Water 
 
This operating division maintains and services both a treated water system and an untreated water 
system. The treated system distributes treated water upon demand to approximately 9,500 customers. 
The untreated system provides irrigation water to approximately 200 customers. Rates for both treated 
and untreated water are based upon the cost of treating, transporting, and delivering water to customers. 
 
Fire and Paramedic 
 
This operating division provides fire protection services and emergency medical services. The District 
contracts out this service to the California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (“CAL FIRE”), and 
maintains three fire stations. Rates for fire service charges and ambulance calls are based on the cost to 
service and maintain these fire stations. 
 
Parks and Recreation 
 
This operating division provides the land and facilities for a park, which is managed by the Ramona Parks 
and Recreation Association on a volunteer basis. The operating division receives funds from property 
taxes, through a special assessment known as “District A”, and the funds are remitted to the Ramona 
Parks and Recreation Association.  
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Reporting Entity (continued) 
 
San Vicente Sewer 
 
This operating division provides sewer service to the San Diego Country Estates area of Ramona and 
services approximately 3,800 equivalent dwelling units (EDUs). A service rate per EDU is set based on the 
cost of treatment and collection of sewage for this facility. 
 
Santa Maria Sewer 
 
This operating division provides sewer service to the downtown area of Ramona and services 
approximately 4,500 EDUs.  A service rate per EDU is set based on the cost of treatment and collection of 
sewage for this facility. 
 
Basis of Accounting 
 
The District reports its activities as an enterprise fund, which is used to account for operations that are 
financed and operated in a manner similar to a private business enterprise, where the intent of the District 
is that the costs of providing water to its customers on a continuing basis be financed or recovered 
primarily through user charges (water sales and services) or similar funding. Revenues and expenses are 
recognized on the full accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized in the accounting period in 
which they are earned and expenses are recognized in the period incurred, regardless of when the related 
cash flow took place. 
 
Operating revenues and expenses are generated and incurred through water sales, fire services, 
emergency medical services, and sewer fees to the District’s customers. Administration and depreciation 
expenses are also considered operating expenses. Other revenues and expenses not included in the above 
categories are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses. 
 
Financial Reporting 
 
The District’s basic financial statements are presented in conformance with the provisions of 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements – and 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis – for State and Local Governments, and subsequently amended 
by GASB Statement No. 61, The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus—an amendment of GASB Statements 
No. 14 and No. 34. This statement established revised financial reporting requirements for state and local 
governments throughout the United States for the purpose of enhancing the understandability and 
usefulness of financial reporting. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Financial Reporting (continued) 
 
The District’s basic financial statements are also presented in conformance with the provisions of GASB 
Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, 
and Net Position. The objective of this Statement is to provide guidance to include two classifications 
separate from assets and liabilities. Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources are required to 
be reported in a Statement of Net Position in a separate section following assets. Similarly, amounts 
reported as deferred inflows of resources are required to be reported in a Statement of Net Position in a 
separate section following liabilities. In addition, the totals of these two new classifications should be 
added to the total for assets and liabilities, respectively. 
 
Assets, Liabilities, and Equity 
 
Cash and Investments 

For purposes of the statements of cash flows, cash and investments consists of cash on hand, cash in 
banks and short-term highly liquid investments with maturities of ninety days or less from the date of 
purchase.  
 
The District’s investment policy and state statutes authorize the District to invest in obligations of the U.S. 
Treasury, its agencies and instrumentalities, certificates of deposit with national and state-licensed or 
chartered banks or federal or state savings and loan associations, money market and mutual funds whose 
portfolios consist of one or more of the foregoing investments, and the Local Agency Investment Fund. 
State statutes require all deposits be insured or collateralized. Depositories holding public funds on 
deposit are required to maintain collateral in the form of a pool of securities with the agent of the 
depository having a market value of at least 10 to 50 percent in excess of the total amount of all public 
funds on deposit. 
 
Accounts Receivable, Net 

Accounts receivable arise from billings to customers for water sales, property taxes, emergency medical 
services, and other utility billings and include an estimate for unbilled water revenue, revenue earned 
from the dates the customer were last billed to the end of the fiscal year.  The District has recorded an 
allowance of $34,433 for doubtful accounts as of June 30, 2020, based on collection history and other 
factors. 
 
Inventories 

Inventories are recorded on the average cost basis. Inventory consists primarily of water meters, water 
line maintenance materials, and sewer line maintenance materials. The District maintains an inventory of 
$3,330,986, net of a $25,000 reserve, at June 30, 2020.  
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Assets, Liabilities, and Equity (continued) 
 
Capital Assets 

Purchased or constructed capital assets are reported at cost or estimated historical cost. Donated fixed 
assets are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of the donation. The cost of normal 
maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend the assets’ lives 
are not capitalized. A capitalization threshold of $10,000 is used. 
 
Capital Assets (continued) 

Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: 
 

Asset Class Estimated Useful Lives
Buildings 10-50
Water systems 10-50
Improvements of sites 7-25
Equipment 5-10  

 
Unearned Revenue 

Cash received for federal and state special projects and programs is recognized as revenue to the extent 
that qualified expenditures have been incurred. Unearned revenue is recorded to the extent cash received 
on specific projects and programs exceeds qualified expenditures. 
 
Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position includes a separate section for deferral of 
outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, 
represents a consumption of net position that applies to future periods and so will not be recognized as 
an outflow of resources (expense/expenditures) until then. The District reports deferred employer 
pension contributions and other deferred outflows related to the District’s pension. 
 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position reports a separate section for deferred inflows 
of resources which represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and will not 
be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. Certain changes in the District's net 
pension liability are required to be deferred over a closed amortized period. 
 
Pensions 

The District follows GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions (GASB 
Statement No. 68), as of July 1, 2014.  This statement requires accrual-based measurement and 
recognition of the cost of pension benefits during the periods when employees render their services.   
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Assets, Liabilities, and Equity (continued) 
 
Pensions (continued) 

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to 
pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the District’s California 
Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) plan (Plan) and additions to/deductions from the Plan’s 
fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the CalPERS. For 
this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when 
currently due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 
CalPERS audited financial statements are publicly available reports that can be obtained at CalPERS' 
website under Forms and Publications. 
 
GASB Statement No. 68 requires that the reported results must pertain to liability and asset information 
within certain defined timeframes. For this report, the following timeframes are used. 
 

Valuation Date  June 30, 2019 
Measurement Date June 30, 2019 
Measurement Period July 1, 2018 to June 30, 2019 

 
Compensated Absences 

Accumulated unpaid employee vacation benefits and sick leave are recognized as current and non-current 
liabilities in the Statement of Net Position. As of June 30, 2020, the District had $858,606 of accrued 
vacation and sick leave. 
 

Property Taxes 

Secured property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property as of January 1. Taxes are payable in two 
installments on November 1 and February 1. Unsecured property taxes are payable in one installment on 
or before August 31. The County of San Diego bills and collects the taxes for the District. 
 
Use of Estimates  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and 
disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. 
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3. COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY 
 
Finance-Related Legal and Contractual Provisions 
 
In accordance with GASB Statement No. 38, Certain Financial Statement Note Disclosures, violations of 
finance-related legal and contractual provisions, if any, are reported below, along with actions taken to 
address such violations: 
 

Violation Action taken

None reported Not applicable

 
 
4. CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 
Cash and investments at June 30, 2020, consisted of the following: 
 

Cash 13,382,976$     
Investments 32,526,113       

Total cash and investments    45,909,089$     

 
Deposits 
 
The carrying amount of the District’s cash deposit in the bank was $13,382,976 at June 30, 2020, which is 
insured up to $250,000 by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. The remaining amount was 
collaterized with securities pledged by the pledging financial institution in the District’s name. 

 
The California Government Code (Code) requires California banks and savings and loan associations to 
secure the District’s cash deposits by pledging securities as collateral. The Code states that collateral 
pledged in this manner shall have the effect of perfecting a security interest in such collateral superior to 
those of a general creditor. Thus, collateral for cash deposits is considered to be held in the District’s 
name.  
 
The market value of the pledged securities must equal at least 110% of the District’s cash deposits. 
California law also allows institutions to secure District deposits by pledging first trust deed mortgage 
notes having a value of 150% of the District’s total cash deposits. 
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4. CASH AND INVESTMENTS (continued) 
 
Investments 
 
Investments are reported at fair value. California statutes authorize special districts to invest idle or 
surplus funds in a variety of credit instruments as provided for in the California Government Code, Section 
53600, Chapter 4 – Financial Affairs. The table below identifies the investment types that are authorized 
for the District by the California Government Code (or the District’s investment policy, where more 
restricted) that address interest rate risk, credit risk, and concentration of credit risk. The table does not 
address investments of debt proceeds held by a bond trustee that are governed by the provisions of debt 
agreements of the District, rather than the general provisions of the California Government Code or the 
District’s investment policy. 
 
The District’s permissible investments include the following instruments: 
 

Maximum Maximum
Maximum Percentage Investment in

Authorized Investment Type Maturity of Portfolio One Issuer
Local Agency Bonds 5 years None None
U.S. Treasury Obligations 5 years None None
U.S. Agency Securities 5 years None None
California Local Agency Investment 5 years None None
Bankers Acceptances 180 days 40% 30%
Commercial Paper 270 days 25% 10%
Negotiable Certificates and Time Deposits 5 years 30% None
Repurchase Agreements 1 year None None
Reverse Repurchase Agreements 92 days 20% None
Medium Term Corporate Notes 5 years 30% None
Mutual Funds N/A 20% 10%
Money Market Mutual Funds N/A 20% 10%
Mortgage Pass-through Securities 5 years 20% None
Investment Pools, including LAIF None None None

 
 
The District may invest in financial futures and option contracts of any of the above authorized categories, 
subject to the same overall portfolio limitations.  
 
The District complied with the provisions of the California Government Code and its investment policy 
pertaining to the types of investments held, the institutions in which deposits were made and the security 
requirements. The District will continue to monitor compliance with applicable statutes pertaining to 
public deposits and investments. 
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4. CASH AND INVESTMENTS (continued) 
 
Investments (continued) 
 
The District is a voluntary participant in the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) that is regulated by 
California Government Code Section 16429 under the oversight of the Treasurer of the State of California.  
The District’s investments with LAIF at June 30, 2020 include a portion of the pool funds invested in 
Structured Notes and Asset-Backed Securities.  These investments include the following: 
 
Structured Notes – are debt securities (other than asset-backed securities) whose cash flow characteristics 
(coupon rate, redemption amount, or stated maturity) depend upon one or more indices and/or have 
embedded forwards or options. 
 
Asset-Backed Securities – the bulk of which are mortgage-backed securities, entitle their purchasers to 
receive a share of the cash flows from a pool of assets such as principal and interest repayments from a 
pool of mortgages (such as Collateralized Mortgage Obligations) or credit card receivables. 
 
As of June 30, 2020, the fair value of the District’s LAIF investment was $32,526,113 invested in LAIF, which 
had invested 3.37% of the pool investments funds in Structured Notes and Asset-Backed Securities as 
compared to 1.77% in the previous year.  

 
Interest Risk – Interest rate risk is the market value fluctuation due to overall changes in interest rates. 
Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair value to changes 
in market interest rates. The District’s investment policy does not contain any provisions limiting interest 
rate risk that are more restrictive than what is specified in the California Government Code. 
 
Information about the sensitivity of the fair values of the District’s investments to market interest rate 
fluctuations is provided by the following table that shows the distribution of the District’s investments by 
maturity as of June 30, 2020: 
 

Investment Type Fair Value  1 year or Less 2 years 3 years 4 years
 5 years or 

More 
Local Agency Investment Fund 32,526,113$     32,526,113$     -$                    -$                    -$         -$         

Total 32,526,113$     32,526,113$     -                       -                       -            -$         

Investment Maturities (in years)
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4. CASH AND INVESTMENTS (continued) 
 
Investments (continued) 
 
Credit Risk – Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligations 
to the holder of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized 
statistical rating organization. At June 30, 2020 the District’s investments in the Local Agency Investment 
Funds were not rated. 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk – The California Government Code limits the amount the District may invest 
in any one issuer, with the exception of U.S. Treasury obligations, U.S. Agency securities and LAIF. The 
District has no investments in any one issuer (other than LAIF) that represent 5% or more of total District 
investments. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk – Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a 
depositary financial institution, a government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to 
recover collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The custodial credit risk for 
investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty (e.g. broker-dealer) to a 
transaction, a government will not be able to recover the value for its investment or collateral securities 
that are in the possession of another party. 
 
Investment Valuation – Investments are measured at fair value on a recurring basis. Recurring fair value 
measurements are those that GASB Statements require or permit in the statement of net position at the 
end of each reporting period. Fair value measurements are categorized based on the valuation inputs 
used to measure an asset’s fair value: Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical 
assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable 
inputs. Investments’ fair value measurements at June 30, 2020 are described as follows: 
 

Investment Type Fair Value  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Local Agency Investment Fund 32,526,113$     -$                    32,526,113$     -$                    
Total 32,526,113$     -$                    32,526,113$     -$                    

Fair Value Measurement 

 
 
The fair value of the District’s investment in the State of California LAIF is based on the fair market value 
factors provided by LAIF that are calculated based on the total fair market value of the pool.  LAIF includes 
investments categorized as Level 1 such as United States Treasury securities, Federal Agency securities, 
and supranational debentures that are valued based on prices quoted in active markets and investments 
categorized as Level 2 such as negotiable certificates of deposit and bank notes that are based on market 
corroborated pricing utilizing inputs such as yield curves and indices that are derived principally from or 
corroborated by observable market data by correlation to other means. The District categorized its 
investments in LAIF based on the lowest significant input used to determine the fair market value of the 
total pool.  The LAIF fair value factor of 1.004912795 was used to calculate the fair value of the 
investments in LAIF. 
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5. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET 
 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts as of June 30, 2020, consists of the 
following: 
 

Utility billings 1,515,790$    
Property taxes 42,677            
Interest receivable 118,681          
EMS receivables 262,282          
Other receivables 245,776          
      Total 2,185,206$    

 
 
 
6. CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Changes in capital assets for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, were as follows: 
 

Balance at               
June 30, 2019 Additions Disposals

Balance at                
June 30, 2020

Capital Assets Subject to Depreciation
Water property, plant, lines, and

equipment 113,962,679$      1,238,240$           115,200,919$      
Fire protection property, building 

and equipment 6,411,305             15,264                   6,426,569             
Park buildings and equipment 1,874,283             -                              -                              1,874,283             
San Vicente Sewer - property,

plant, lines, and equipment 24,399,577           23,669                   -                              24,423,246           
Santa Maria Sewer - property, 

plant, lines, and equipment 17,617,006           36,326                   17,653,332           
Less: accumulated depreciation (113,946,068)       (4,907,249)           -                              (118,853,317)       

Total capital assets being 
depreciated, net 50,318,782           (3,593,750)           -                              46,725,032           

Capital Assets Not Subject to Depreciation
Land 10,073,828           -                              -                              10,073,828           
Construction in progress 12,035,392           9,346,064             (1,098,959)           20,282,497           

Total capital assets not
being depreciated 22,109,220           9,346,064             (1,098,959)           30,356,325           

Net capital assets 72,428,002$        5,752,314$           (1,098,959)$         77,081,357$        

 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2020, depreciation expense was $4,907,249. 
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7. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 
Non-current liabilities include debt and other long-term liabilities. Changes in long-term obligations for 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, are as follows: 
 

June 30, June 30, Current
2019 Increases Decreases 2020 Portion

Compensated absences 826,807$        41,892$          (10,093)$        858,606$        214,652$        
Installment Purchase 3,538,000      -                   (275,000)        3,263,000      283,000          

4,364,807$    41,892$          (285,093)$      4,121,606$    497,652$        

 
Installment Purchase Agreement 
 
On May 8, 2014, the District entered into an Installment Purchase Agreement in the amount of $4,808,000 
to J.P. Morgan Chase with interest at 3.06% used to finance 2014 San Vicente Road Pipeline Relocation 
Project. Annual principal payments plus interest are due through October 2029. Future long-term 
maturities as of June 30, 2020, are as follows: 
 

Year Ending June 30, Principal Interest Total
2021 283,000$        95,518$          378,518$        
2022 292,000          86,720            378,720          
2023 301,000          77,648            378,648          
2024 311,000          68,284            379,284          
2025 320,000          63,525            383,525          

2026-2029 1,756,000      132,743          1,888,743      
3,263,000$    524,438$        3,787,438$    
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 
The following is summarized condensed information for the major operating divisions of the District and 
the combined nonmajor operating divisions including Parks and Recreation, San Vicente Sewer and Santa 
Maria Sewer: 
 
Water Fund 

Condensed Statement of Net Position 
 

Cash and investments 21,684,386$         
Accounts receivable 1,922,924              
Inventory 3,330,986              
Capital assets, net 53,995,324           

Total assets 80,933,620           
Deferred outflows of resources 3,526,818              
Current l iabil ities 3,943,332              
Non-current l iabil ities 16,896,418           

Total l iabil ities 20,839,750           
Deferred inflows of resources 1,903,223              
Capital assets, net of related debt 37,098,906           
Unrestricted 24,618,559           

Total net position 61,717,465$         
 

 
Condensed Statement of Activities 

 
Operating revenues:

Sales and service fees 16,828,491$         
Total operating revenues 16,828,491           

Operating expenses:
Water and related expenses 12,639,679           
Depreciation and general & administrative 9,013,617              

Total operating expenses 21,653,296           
Operating loss (4,824,805)            

Non-operating revenues (expenses):
Property taxes 3,354,007              
Interest income 297,000                 
Other revenue and expenses, net (12,097)                  

Total non-operating revenues 3,638,910              
Income before contributions (1,185,895)            

Capital contributions 214,542                 
Increase in net position (971,353)                
Net position, beginning of year 62,688,818           
Prior period adjustment -                               
Net position, end of year 61,717,465$         
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Fire and Paramedic Fund 

Condensed Statement of Net Position 

Cash and investments 2,860,696$           
Accounts receivable 262,282                 
Capital assets, net 2,385,091              

Total assets 5,508,069              
Current l iabil ities (161,760)                

Total l iabil ities (161,760)                

Capital assets, net of related debt 2,385,091              
Unrestricted 3,284,738              

Total net position 5,669,829$           

Condensed Statement of Activities 

Operating revenues:
Fire and emergency medical service fees 3,717,133$           

Total operating revenues 3,717,133              
Operating expenses:

Safety services 6,456,069              
Depreciation and general & administrative 1,004,981              

Total operating expenses 7,461,050              
Operating loss (3,743,917)            

Non-operating revenues (expenses):
Property taxes 2,342,481              
Interest income 63,124 
Other revenue and expenses 75,595 

Total non-operating revenues 2,481,200              
Increase in net position (1,262,717)            
Net position, beginning of year 6,932,546              
Net position, end of year 5,669,829$           
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 
 
Nonmajor Funds 
 

Condensed Statement of Net Position 
 

Cash and investments 21,364,005$         
Capital assets, net 20,700,941            

Total assets 42,064,946            

Current l iabil ities 4,122,218              
Total l iabil ities 4,122,218              

Capital assets, net of related debt 20,700,941            
Unrestricted 17,241,787            

Total net position 37,942,728$         

 
 

Condensed Statement of Activities 
 

Operating revenues:
Sales and service fees 752,411$               

Total operating revenues 752,411                 
Operating expenses:

Sewer services 3,257,809              
Park services 142,800                 
Depreciation and general & administrative 2,570,876              

Total operating expenses 5,971,485              
Operating loss (5,219,074)             

Non-operating revenues (expenses):
Property taxes 7,322,589              
Interest income 303,999                 
Other revenue and expenses, net 44,729                    

Total non-operating revenues 7,671,317              
Increase in net position 2,452,243              
Net position, beginning of year 35,490,485            
Net position, end of year 37,942,728$         

 
 

  

ATTACHMENT 1

F.1. Page 32



 

RAMONA MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2020 
 

 
 

Page 29 

9. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN 
 
Plan Description, Benefits Provided and Employees Covered 
 
All qualified permanent and probationary employees are eligible to participate in the District’s Cost-
Sharing Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plan (Plan) administered by the California Public 
Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS). The Plan consists of individual rate plans (benefit tiers) within 
a safety risk pool and a miscellaneous risk pool (all other).  Plan assets may be used to pay benefits for 
any employer rate plan of the safety and miscellaneous pools.  Accordingly, rate plans within the safety 
or miscellaneous pools are not separate plans under GASB Statement No. 68.  Individual employers may 
sponsor more than one rate plan in the miscellaneous or safety risk pools.  The District sponsors four rate 
plans (three miscellaneous and one safety).  Benefit provisions under the Plan are established by State 
statute and District resolution. CalPERS issues publicly available reports that include a full description of 
the pension plan regarding benefit provisions, assumptions and membership information that can be 
found at CalPERS' website. 
 
Benefits Provided 
 
CalPERS provides service retirement and disability benefits, annual cost of living adjustments and death 
benefits to plan members, who must be public employees and beneficiaries. Benefits are based on years 
of credited service, equal to one year of full time employment. Members with five years of total service 
are eligible to retire at age 55 with statutorily reduced benefits. All members are eligible for non-duty 
disability benefits after 10 years of service. The death benefit is one of the following: the Basic Death 
Benefit, the 1957 Survivor Benefit, or the Optional Settlement 2W Death Benefit. The cost of living 
adjustments for each plan are applied as specified by the Public Employees’ Retirement Law.  
 
The District’s labor contract with miscellaneous employees require the District to make no contribution 
for the employee’s share of member contributions, employees in the miscellaneous plan pay the full 
8.00% (6.75% if hired after January 1, 2013), and the employer’s rate is 14.714% (7.363% if hired after 
January 1, 2013) after payment of the Annual Lump Sum payment option.  The District no longer provides 
public safety service so there are no employee contributions being made to that safety plan. 
 
Contribution Description 
 
Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees' Retirement Law requires that the employer 
contribution rates for all public employers be determined on an annual basis by the actuary and will be 
effective on the July 1 following notice of a change in the rate. Funding contributions for the Plan are 
determined annually on an actuarial basis as of June 30 by CalPERS. The actuarially determined rate is the 
estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, with 
an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability.   
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9. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN (continued)

Contribution Description (continued) 

The District is required to contribute the difference between the actuarially determined rate and the 
contribution rate of employees. The District’s contributions to the Plan for the year ended June 30, 2020 
were $1,386,582.  

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 

At June 30, 2020, the District reported a net pension liability of $11,136,825 for its proportionate share of 
the net pension liability of the Plan.  The District’s net pension liability for the Plan is measured as the 
proportionate share of the net pension liability. The net pension liability of the Plan is measured as of June 
30, 2019, and the total pension liability for the Plan used to calculate the net pension liability was 
determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2018 rolled forward to June 30, 2019 using standard 
update procedures. The District’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the 
Local Government’s long-term share of contributions to the Plan relative to the projected contributions 
of all participating employers, actuarially determined. The District’s proportionate share of the net 
pension liability as of June 30, 2020 was 0.301343%. 

At June 30, 2020, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date 1,386,582$           -$  
Change in assumptions 422,687                 85,619 
Differences between expected and actual experiences 879,860                 169,452                 
Difference in actual versus projected contributions - 1,408,071
Changes in proportions 801,986 - 
Net differences between projected and actual earnings
  on pension plan investments 35,703 240,081                 

3,526,818$           1,903,223$           
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9. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN (continued) 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 
(continued) 
 
The $1,386,582 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to the pension resulting from District 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension 
liability in the year ended June 30, 2020.  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

 

Measurement Deferred Outflows/
Periods Ending (Inflows) of

June 30: Resources
2021 1,077,050$              
2022 253,358                    
2023 186,368                    
2024 106,819                    

1,623,595$              
 

 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions Used to Determine Total Pension Liability 
 
The June 30, 2019 valuation was rolled forward to determine the June 30, 2020 total pension liability, 
based on the following actuarial methods and assumptions: 
 

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal 
Actuarial Assumptions

Discount Rate 7.15%
Inflation 2.75%
Salary Increases Varies by Entry Age and Service
Mortality Rate Table Derived using CalPERS’ Membership Data for all Funds
Post Retirement Benefit Increas Contract COLA up to 2% until Purchasing Power 

Protection Allowance Floor on Purchasing Power applies,
2% thereafter  

 
(1) The mortality table used was developed based on CalPERS’ specific data. The table includes 20 years 
of mortality improvements using Society of Actuaries Scale BB. For more details on this table, please refer 
to the 2014 experience study report. 
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9. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN (continued)

Change of Assumptions 

There were no changes of assumptions. 

Discount Rate 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.15 percent. To determine whether the 
municipal bond rate should be used in the calculation of a discount rate for each plan, CalPERS stress 
tested plans that would most likely result in a discount rate that would be different from the actuarially 
assumed discount rate. Based on the testing, none of the tested plans run out of assets.  Therefore, the 
current 7.15 percent discount rate is adequate and the use of the municipal bond rate calculation is not 
necessary. The long term expected discount rate of 7.15 percent is applied to all plans in the Public 
Employees Retirement Fund. The stress test results are presented in a detailed report called "GASB 
Crossover Testing Report" that can be obtained at CalPERS' website under the GASB 68 section.   

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block 
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of 
pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. 

In determining the long-term expected rate of return, CalPERS took into account both short-term and 
long-term market return expectations as well as the expected pension fund cash flows. Such cash flows 
were developed assuming that both members and employers will make their required contributions on 
time and as scheduled in all future years. Using historical returns of all the funds' asset classes, expected 
compound (geometric) returns were calculated over the short-term (first 10 years) and the long-term (11 
- 60 years) using a building-block approach. Using the expected nominal returns for both short-term and 
long-term, the present value of benefits was calculated for each fund.  The expected rate of return was 
set by calculating the single equivalent expected return that arrived at the same present value of benefits 
for cash flows as the one calculated using both short-term and long-term returns. The expected rate of 
return was then set equivalent to the single equivalent rate calculated above and rounded down to the 
nearest one quarter of one percent.   
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9. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN (continued)

Discount Rate (continued) 

The table below reflects  long‐term expected real  rate of  return by asset class. The rate of  return was 
calculated  using  the  capital  market  assumptions  applied  to  determine  the  discount  rate  and  asset 
allocation. These geometric rates of return are net of administrative expenses. 

New

Strategic Real Return Real Return

Asset Class Allocation Years 1 ‐ 10 (a) Years 11+ (b)

Global Equity  47.00% 4.90% 5.38%

Global Fixed Income 19.00% 0.80% 2.27%

Inflation Sensitive 6.00% 0.60% 1.39%

Private Equity 12.00% 6.60% 6.63%

Real Estate 11.00% 2.80% 5.21%

Infrastructure and Forestland 3.00% 3.90% 5.36%

Liquidity 2.00% ‐0.40% ‐0.90%

  Total 100.00%

(a) An expected inflation of 2.5% used for this period.

(b) An expected inflation of 3.0% used for this period.

Sensitivity of the District’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount 
Rate 

The following presents the District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the 
discount rate of 7.15%, as well as what the District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would 
be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (6.15%) or one percentage 
point higher (8.15%) than the current rate: 

Discount Current Discount Discount
Rate ‐1.00% Rate Rate +1.00%

6.15% 7.15% 8.15%

Miscellaneous Plan's Net Pension 

Liability 19,758,414$      11,136,825$      4,027,468$     
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9. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN (continued)

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

Detailed information about the Plan’s fiduciary net positions is available in the separately issued CalPERS 
financial report. 

The District did not report a payable outstanding for contributions to the pension plan required for the 
year ended June 30, 2020. 

10. JOINT VENTURES (JOINT POWERS AGREEMENT)

The District is a participating member of the Association of California Water Agencies/Joint Powers 
Insurance Authority (ACWA/JPIA), which arranges for and provides general liability, property damage, and 
dam failure liability insurance to its member agencies. The District pays a premium commensurate with 
the level of coverage requested. The District has elected to self-insure for a portion of property damage 
coverage in the amount of $10,000 per occurrence. 

Contributions to ACWA/JPIA were approximately $1,175,707 for the year ended June 30, 2020. 
Contributions to ACWA/JPIA were approximately $1,206,382 for the year ended June 30, 2019. 
Condensed financial information available for the ACWA/JPIA as of September 30, 2018 are as 
follows.  The complete financial statements can be obtained by contacting ACWA/JPIA at P.O. Box 619082, 
Roseville, CA 95661-9082. 

Total revenues 181,825,144$             
Total expenses 169,356,246               
Net decrease in net position 12,468,898 
Beginning net position 86,465,604 
Ending net position 98,934,502$               

11. OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

General Information about the OPEB Plan 

Plan Description and Benefits Provided 

To be eligible for retiree health benefits, an employee must retire from the District on or after age 50 
according to the following tiers: 

• Tier 1 (Hire prior to January 1, 2005) – five (5) years of full time District employment/50 years of
age;

• Tier 2 (Hire on/after January 1, 2005) – ten (10) years of full time employment/50 years of age;
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11. OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (continued)

General Information about the OPEB Plan (continued) 

Plan Description and Benefits Provided (continued) 

• Tier 3 (Hired after January 1, 2008) – 10 years of full time service/50 years of age/sum of age
and service with the District equals to 65.

Employees hired after January 1, 2014 are no longer eligible for the retiree health benefit. 

The District’s contribution is based on a percentage of the least expensive District-sponsored medical plan 
for eligible employees at the date of retirement. For employees with less than 25 years of eligible service 
at retirement, the District’s contribution percentage is 86.76% for retiree only coverage and 68.17% for 
any additional spouse coverage. For employees with greater than 25 years of eligible service at retirement, 
the District’s contribution percentage is 100% for retiree coverage and 75% for retiree plus spouse 
coverage. The retiree must pay any additional costs above the District’s contribution including future 
increases in the cost of coverage. The District’s contribution is also provided to retirees as a cash 
reimbursement under accountable plan benefit if opting out of the District-sponsored plan. The District 
policy is to fund the Plan on a pay as you go basis, which covers only current cost of health insurance 
premiums for employees and retirees. No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in 
paragraph 4 of GASB Statement 75. 

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms 

At June 30, 2020, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms: 

Inactive plan members or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 8 
Inactive plan members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 3 
Active plan members 49 
Total 60 

Total OPEB Liability 

The District’s total OPEB liability of $1,920,987 was measured as of June 30, 2020, and was determined 
by an actuarial valuation as of that date.  

Actuarial assumptions and other inputs 

The total OPEB liability in the June 30, 2020 actuarial valuation was determined using the following 
actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless 
otherwise specified: 
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11. OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (continued)

Total OPEB Liability (continued) 

Actuarial assumptions and other inputs (continued) 

Inflation 2.75% per annum
Salary increases 3.0% per annum, in aggregate
Discount rate 2.66% per annum
Healthcare cost trend rates 6.5% for 2020, decreasing 0.5% percent per year to an 

ultimate rate of 4.5% for 2028 and later years
The discount rate used was based on the historical and expected returns of the District’s investments. 

Mortality rates are based on the most recent mortality tables used by CalPERS for the pension valuations. 

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2020 valuation based upon the most recent CalPERS 
experience study covering the period June 30, 1997 through June 30, 2011. 

Changes in the Total OPEB Liability 
Total OPEB 

Liability

Balance at June 30, 2019 1,486,441$     
Changes for the year:

Service cost 95,485              
Interest 52,668              
Changes of benefit terms - 
Differences between expected and actual experience 5,661                
Changes of assumptions 423,339           
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (142,607)          

Net changes 434,546           
Balance at June 30, 2020 1,920,987$     

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate 

ATTACHMENT 1

F.1. Page 40



RAMONA MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2020 

Page 37 

11. OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (continued)

Total OPEB Liability (continued) 

The following presents the total OPEB liability, calculated using the discount rate of 2.66%, as well as what 
the Net OPEB Liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower 
(1.66%) or 1-percentage-point higher (3.66%) than the current rate: 

1% Decrease 
(1.66%)

Current Discount 
Rate (2.66%)

1% Increase 
(3.66%)

Total OPEB Liability 2,053,242$           1,920,987$           1,796,329$           

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates 

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the District, calculated using healthcare cost trend rates 
that are 1-percentage-point lower (5.50% decreasing to 4.50%) or 1-percentage-point higher (7.50% 
decreasing to 5.50%) than the current healthcare cost trend rates: 

1% Decrease 
(5.50% 

decreasing to 
3.50%)

Current Discount 
Rate (6.50% 

decreasing to 
4.50%)

1% Increase 
(7.50% 

decreasing to 
5.50%)

Total OPEB Liability 1,733,943$           1,920,987$           2,175,041$           

12. CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

Contributions of Water and Sewer Systems 

Contributions of Water and Sewer Systems by developers and property owners are valued based upon 
the District engineers’ estimates of cost and are recorded as capital contributions. Water and Sewer 
Systems acquired by merging are also recorded as capital contributions. 

The District adopted GASB Statement No. 33 Accounting and Financial Reporting for Nonexchange 
Transactions, to record capacity charges. Under Statement No. 33, the District recognizes capacity charges 
as revenue. 
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13. VACATION, SICK LEAVE AND COMPENSATORY TIME

Vacation and Sick Leave 

Based on the Memorandum of Understanding between the District and the District’s Employees 
Association for the period of January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2017, all eligible employees are 
entitled to vacation and sick leave referred to as Comprehensive Annual Leave (CAL Time).  

A new Memorandum of Understanding between the District and District’s Employees Association for the 
period of January 1, 2018 through December 31, 2021 went into effect and did not alter the terms outlined 
below. 

Commencement of CAL Time Accrual CAL Time Accrual 
CAL Time Accrual Per Period (Hours) Annually (Days)

0 years 6.8 22.10
6 years 8.3 26.98

11 years 9.9 32.18
16 years 11.4 37.05

Accrual of CAL Time shall cease when an employee reaches the maximum cap of 1,040 hours and does 
not accrue until the balance of the unused time again falls below 1,040 hours. Unless CAL Time is used for 
an absence due to the employee’s illness or injury, it will only be scheduled and taken with the approval 
of the employee’s immediate supervisor. No employee may take more than twenty-five (25) consecutive 
days of CAL Time without the written approval of the General Manger.  

Probationary employees may use accrued CAL Time from their hire date for approved absence away from 
work related to the employee’s inability to work due to the employee’s illness or injury, and are eligible 
to use their CAL Time for vacation purposes after six (6) months of employment with the District. 
Employees who are laid off, resign, retire, or are otherwise separated from the service of the District, shall 
be paid for all accrued CAL Time upon separation from employment with the District. The amount of 
payment is calculated based upon the employee’s regular straight time hourly rate of pay in effect for the 
employee’s regular job, on the last work day of the employee’s employment.  

Compensatory Time (Comp Time) 

When an employee works beyond their regularly scheduled workday or duty shift, the employee shall be 
paid either by use of comp time at a rate of one and one-half (1½) hours from each overtime hour worked 
over eight (8) hours in a workday or at the rate of time and one-half of their regular hourly rate of pay for 
all time worked over eight (8) hours in a workday. Hours worked which are eligible for overtime and 
double time pay may be compensated either by use of comp time or pay. No employee shall be allowed 
to accumulate over sixty (60) hours of unused comp time without the written permission of the 
department head. 
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14. DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

The District offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with Internal 
Revenue Code Section 457. The plan, available to all full time employees, permits deferment of a portion 
of current salary to future years. Benefits from the plan are not available to employees until termination, 
retirement, disability, death or unforeseeable emergencies. 

All assets and income of the plan are held in trust for the exclusive benefit of the participants and their 
beneficiaries. The District does not meet the criteria for fiduciary fund reporting since it does not have 
either significant administrative involvement (e.g. custody) or performs the investment function. The plan 
assets are being administered by both the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) and 
Lincoln Financial Group. New employees may only elect a deferred compensation plan with CalPERS. 
Current employees who have participated with Lincoln Financial Group cannot make additional 
contributions to their account but must commence a plan with CalPERS.  

15. ASSESSMENT DISTRICT NO. 99-1

On March 14, 2000, the Board of Directors formed Assessment District No. 99-1 and issued bonds in the 
aggregate principal amount of $3,355,000 in August 2000.  The bonds were issued pursuant to the 
Improvement Bond Act of 1915 and the bonds are designated as Limited Obligation Improvement Bonds, 
Ramona Municipal Water District, Assessment District No. 99-1 2000 Series A.  The Bonds were issued to 
finance the construction and acquisition of certain public improvements specifically benefiting property 
owners within the Assessment District.    

The bonds mature in various amounts ranging from $85,000 to $265,000 on September 2 of each year 
from 2001 until 2020. Interest rates range from 4.75% to 6.60%.  The bonds are secured by a pledge of all 
assessment revenues of the Assessment District No. 99-1. As of June 30, 2020, the District has no 
outstanding balance.  

The Assessment District No. 99-1 is accounted for in an agency fund of the District and is therefore not 
included in the basic financial statements of the District.  There is no activity for the Assessment District 
No. 99-1 as it was paid in in full as of June 30, 2019. 
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2020
Total OPEB Liability

Service cost 95,485$       
Interest 52,668          
Changes of benefit terms -                
Differences between expected and actual experience 5,661            
Changes of assumptions 423,339       
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (142,607)      
Net change in Total OPEB Liability 434,546       

Total OPEB Liability - beginning 1,486,441    
Total OPEB Liability - ending 1,920,987$ 

Covered-employee payroll 4,444,005$ 

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered-payroll 43.2%

Notes to Schedule:

Fiscal year 2018 was the 1st year of implementation, therefore only one year is shown.
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Name Office Term Expiration

Jim Robinson President December 2, 2022

Bryan Wadlington Vice President December 2, 2022

Jeff Lawler Secretary December 4, 2020

Thomas Ace Treasurer December 4, 2020

Jim Hickle Director December 4, 2020

General Manager

David P. Barnum

Chief Financial Officer

Craig Schmollinger
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Assessed Valuation

Secured Property 4,532,977,480$           

Unsecured Property 46,432,968 

Total Assessed Valuation 4,579,410,448$           
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